

University of Alabama at Birmingham UAB Digital Commons

All ETDs from UAB

UAB Theses & Dissertations

2013

Hard on Your Heart: A Qualitative Description of Adolescent Prenatal Stress

Candace Clayton Knight
University of Alabama at Birmingham

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.library.uab.edu/etd-collection

Recommended Citation

Knight, Candace Clayton, "Hard on Your Heart: A Qualitative Description of Adolescent Prenatal Stress" (2013). *All ETDs from UAB*. 2167.

https://digitalcommons.library.uab.edu/etd-collection/2167

This content has been accepted for inclusion by an authorized administrator of the UAB Digital Commons, and is provided as a free open access item. All inquiries regarding this item or the UAB Digital Commons should be directed to the UAB Libraries Office of Scholarly Communication.

HARD ON YOUR HEART: A QUALITATIVE DESCRIPTION OF ADOLESCENT PRENATAL STRESS

by

CANDACE C. KNIGHT

JEAN IVEY, COMMITTEE CHAIR GWENDOLYN CHILDS ASHLEY HODGES TINA SIMPSON WILLIAM SOMERALL

A DISSERTATION

Submitted to the graduate faculty of the University of Alabama at Birmingham, In partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

BIRMINGHAM, ALABAMA

2013

HARD ON YOUR HEART: A QUALITATIVE DESCRIPTION OF ADOLESCENT PRENATAL STRESS

CANDACE C. KNIGHT

SCHOOL OF NURSING

ABSTRACT

Introduction: Pregnancy during adolescence is potentially stressful due to the concurrent tasks of navigating the typically tumultuous adolescent stage of development and the life altering experience of pregnancy (Kaye, 2008). There is a growing body of research linking prenatal stress to poor birth and developmental outcomes such as premature birth and low birth weight infants (K. Keenan, Sheffield, & Boeldt, 2007; Mulder et al., 2002), which makes describing the relatively unexplored perceptions and experience of stress during adolescent pregnancy important. The life course framework, with its emphasis on social, environmental, and family risk factors, has implications for reducing disparities among pregnant adolescents and is used to frame this study.

Purpose: The purpose of this study is to describe the adolescent's perception and experience of stress during pregnancy, and to illuminate which social, family, environmental, or any other experiences are deemed stressful to determine where interventions may be most needed and desired by the adolescent in hopes of impacting the negative sequelae associated with prenatal stress.

Methods: Qualitative interviews were used to elicit a description of stress in pregnant adolescents aged 15-19 years from different socioeconomic and geographic groups. Qualitative content analysis was used to analyze the collected data.

Results: Pregnant teens reported stress related to responses to the pregnancy by family and others, changes in their relationships and future plans, and other fears and

concerns regarding dependence and safety. Perceived disruptions and changes in family and social relationships was the most frequently discussed topic and impacted the remaining themes.

Conclusions: The study findings indicated that much of the stress experienced by the teens was relational in nature. Support of the family and social intervention are possible avenues of intervention that may improve the experience of stress in pregnant adolescents.

DEDICATION

I dedicate this project to my mother and father who persevered as adolescent parents and to my husband and children who sacrificed so that I could fulfill my dream.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I gratefully acknowledge the members of my committee Drs. Jean Ivey, Gwendolyn Childs, Ashley Hodges, Tina Simpson, and William Somerall for their assistance in this project. Dr. Ivey's patience and encouragement were sustaining. Dr. Childs' expertise in methods and content and Dr. Hodges editing were invaluable. I deeply appreciate Dr. Somerall's willingness to allow recruiting in his clinic and Dr. Simpson's time and support.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
ABSTRACT	ii
DEDICATION	iv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	V
LIST OF TABLES	ix
CHAPTER	
1 INTRODUCTION	1
Problem	1
2 REVIEW OF LITERATURE	4
Stress	
Stress and Dailey Hassles	5
Stress and Major Life Events	6
Stress During Adolescence	7
Anxiety	
Common Sources of Psychosocial Stress	8
Summary	11
3 METHODOLOGY	12
Purpose	12
Research Questions	12
Conceptual Framework	12
Stress, Appraisal, and Coping	12
Life Course Framework	14
Concepts	16
Propositions	17
Summary	18
Design	18

TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

	Page
CHAPTER	
Method	18
Participants	
Sampling	
Recruitment	
Informed Consent	22
Data Collection	22
Analysis	24
4 FINDINGS	25
Themes	28
Stated and Perceived Responses	28
Looking Ahead	
Changes	36
Fears and Concerns	40
Summary	41
5 DISCUSSION, CONCLUSION, IMPLICATIONS, AND RECOMMENDATIONS	42
Discussion	
Stated and Perceived Responses	
Looking Ahead	
Changes	
Fears and Concerns	
Conclusions	
Implications	
Limitations	
Strengths	
Recommendations	51
LIST OF REFERENCES	53
APPENDIX	
A INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD APPROVAL FORMS	61
B POSSIBLE INTERVIEW QUESTIONS/TOPICS	71
C RECRITIMENT FLYER	73

TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

	Page
D CODING LEGEND AND TABLE	75

LIST OF TABLES

Tables	Page
1 Sociodemographic Characteristics ((n = 11)27

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

A growing body of research links prenatal psychosocial stress to gestational hypertension, preterm labor, prematurity, and low birth weight (LBW) (Latendresse, 2009; Mulder, et al., 2002; Ruiz & Avant, 2005). Additionally, developmental outcomes for the offspring, like attention deficit disorder (ADD), cognitive delays, difficult infant temperament, depression during adolescence, and adult cardiovascular disease have also been related to prenatal stress (Barker, 2007; K. Keenan, Sheffield, R., & Boeldt, D., 2007; Mulder et al., 2002). Due to the potential difficulties navigating the adolescent stage of development, pregnant adolescents are at risk to experience great psychosocial stress (Kaye, 2008). Therefore, it is of great concern to illuminate what is most stressful to a pregnant adolescent, and learn what may help these adolescents effectively cope with and diminish their stressors.

Problem

Despite the encouraging fact that there were fewer births to adolescent mothers in 2010 than there have been since the 1940's (Hamilton & Ventura, 2012), the United States continues to have one of the highest rates of adolescent childbirth among industrialized nations (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2010; Singh & Darroch, 2000). In Alabama, the adolescent birth rate remains significantly higher than the national rate of births to teens ages 15-19 years (Matthews, Sutton, Hamilton, & Ventura, 2010).

Economically, there are tremendous costs related to adolescent pregnancy and childbirth, which are attributed to adverse birth outcomes, such as prematurity and LBW, as well as reliance on Medicaid and other public programs like WIC. Prematurity alone is extraordinarily costly, especially when the infant is admitted to the neonatal intensive care unit (NICU). Melnyk and Feinstein (2009) estimated that each day an infant remains in a NICU costs \$1,250-\$2,000. When those numbers are combined with the number of premature infants born to adolescents, the cost is staggering. Recently, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) (2009) estimated that adolescent childbearing costs the U.S. \$9 billion per year.

Of course, the costs are not only related to healthcare needs. Adolescent mothers are less likely to attain their educational goals, which reduces their earning potential, and they are more likely to remain single (CDC, 2009). Children born to adolescent mothers are more likely to have lower cognitive ability scores, have behavior problems, like ADD, chronic medical problems, to rely on public health care, be incarcerated, drop out of high school themselves, become pregnant in adolescence, and to be unemployed (CDC, 2009). Adolescent fathers are also more likely to have limited education and employment (Erkut, Szalacha, & Coll, 2005).

Many of the negative outcomes related to adolescent birth are also associated with the experience of psychosocial stress, anxiety, and depression during pregnancy. Most prenatal stress research, though, has been primarily focused on adults. Mitsuhiro and colleagues (2009) related the dual tasks of navigating adolescent development and factors commonly associated adolescent pregnancy and parenting such as poverty, limited education, unemployment, and lack of family and social support with an increased

risk of psychological distress. The response to the pregnancy by the father of the baby and by the parents of both adolescents, in addition to concerns about the future, may be other possible sources of stress for the pregnant adolescent. The research literature concerning the family response to adolescent pregnancy is extremely limited, but may be characterized by emotional turmoil, anger, and feelings of betrayal (Bartell, 2005; Dallas, 2004). This author's personal clinical experience has also demonstrated that family relationships during adolescent pregnancy can be tremendously stressful and anxiety provoking.

Several federal and international health promotion organizations have focused on the reduction of the sequelae associated with adolescent pregnancy and birth, as well as prenatal psychosocial stress. The National Institute of Nursing Research, in its Strategic Plan (2006) listed the application of findings from biobehavioral, descriptive, and intervention studies to influence health disparities among youth and adolescents as a priority research focus. Additionally, the March of Dimes has a long history of supporting research related to prematurity, and promoting better birth outcomes for all babies. Further, the Office of Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services in its *Healthy People 2010* and *Healthy People 2020*, lists among its objectives: reduce maternal illness due to pregnancy complications, reduce preterm births, and reduce LBW and VLBW. This research focus relating prenatal stress among adolescents to birth and developmental outcomes potentially impacts the research priorities mentioned earlier.

CHAPTER 2

REVIEW OF LITERATURE

A search of the PubMed, CINAHL, PsychInfo, Academic OneFile, and Social Sciences Full Text databases was performed using combinations of the terms *pregnancy* in adolescence, stress, depression, anxiety, distress, prenatal stress, adolescent stress, family, family stress, and adolescent father. Related article features were utilized and reference lists of helpful works were explored for further assistance. Initially only articles from the past 10 years were sought; however, the literature was so sparse that studies published up to 15 years ago were included.

Stress

The term "stress" has many different connotations in our culture, and definitions range from mechanical to emotional and physiological. When defined physiologically, stress is an event, situation, or emotion that disturbs homeostasis or negatively impacts an individual (Coussons-Read, Okun, Schmitt, & Giese, 2005; Davis & Sandman, 2006). McEwen (2000) defines stress as any real or implied threat to psychological or physiological integrity. Psychosocial stress ranges from the high levels of acute stress brought about by life events, such as death in the family, divorce, loss of a job, pregnancy, or moving, to more chronic daily stress from school or work demands, relationships, social pressures, or poverty (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984).

Stress and Daily Hassles

Chronic daily hassles during pregnancy in adult women, such as household strain and job stress (Hobel, Goldstein, & Barrett, 2008), have been measured and linked to pregnancy complications such as miscarriage, gestational hypertension, and poor birth outcomes, specifically LBW and prematurity (Coussons-Read et al., 2005; Latendresse, 2009; Mulder et al., 2002; Ruiz & Avant, 2005). Latendresse (2009) also found that chronic unresolved levels of prenatal maternal stress, as opposed to acute short lived stress, were more highly correlated with prematurity. One study found that women who reported moderate levels of prenatal stress were not more likely to have poor birth outcomes, and the infants of these women actually had more optimal child development than those who reported less stress; the authors commented that this finding may be specific to their sample and not readily generalizable, as all of the women were well nourished and financially stable (DiPietro, et al., 2006). In a longitudinal study of 13 year, 14 year, and 15 year old non-pregnant adolescent's behavioral symptoms, Seiffge-Krenke (2000) posited that minor daily stressors have been shown to have a stronger effect than major life events on behavior, creating a self perpetuating cycle of stress and negative stress related behavior.

The findings are not entirely consistent with regard to chronic moderate levels of stress during pregnancy, but do seem to point to a relationship with prematurity and LBW infants. Inconsistencies among findings may be related to differences in measurement. A few studies measured stress biologically, typically with salivary cortisol, but most relied heavily on more subjective self report from participants. Often stress was not conceptually defined and was measured in combination with anxiety and depression leading to

blending of the three concepts. Small sample sizes were problematic for some of these studies, and since most of the samples were drawn from pregnant adults, adolescent data is missing.

Stress and Major Life Events

Several studies that measured stress during pregnancy due to major life events, however, have also reported significant relationships with prematurity and LBW infants. Following the events of September 11th at the World Trade Centers in New York and following hurricane Katrina in Louisiana and Alabama, highly exposed pregnant women were found to have a significantly increased incidence of LBW infants and premature deliveries (Eskenazi et al., 2007; Landrigan et al., 2008; X. Xiong, Harville, Mattison, Elkind-Hirsch, & Pridjian, 2008). Conversely, Berkowitz and colleagues (2003) found no increase in prematurity or LBW following the events of September 11th, but did find an increase in intrauterine growth retardation (IUGR). Women who were exposed to these major stress events earlier in pregnancy were more likely to have shorter gestation than those exposed late in pregnancy (Eskenazi et al., 2007).

Similar to the results for chronic daily hassle stress, the findings related to major life event stress are somewhat inconsistent and require further investigation. None of the studies located focused on pregnant adolescents, so little is known about how these kinds of major life events impact the adolescent population.

Stress During Adolescence

Because so few studies related to prenatal stress address the adolescent population, a review of general adolescent stress was necessary. The perception of chronic or acute stress is highly individual and impacted by culture, social, and economic status (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984; Motzer & Hertig, 2004). This implies that situations and events that adolescents categorize as stressful may not be perceived as stressful by adults or by individuals with differing cultural and socioeconomic backgrounds. The level of stress experienced by adolescents can be trivialized by adults and even health care professionals, but even non-pregnant adolescents experience stress (LaRue & Herrman, 2008). Stress for non-pregnant adolescents is often related to school pressures, family and home life and social pressures (LaRue & Herrman, 2008). Adolescents living in poverty may be at increased risk for mental health problems related to the stressors associated with financial hardship and the environments in which they live (Dashiff, DiMicco, Myers, & Sheppard, 2009; Wadsworth & Berger, 2006). Seiffge-Krenke (2009) found that adolescents who are exposed to stressful situations early in the developmental stage of adolescence may not cope as well as individuals later in adolescence due to their inexperience employing coping skills. Meadows and colleagues (2006) similarly found that depressive symptoms decreased over the life course trajectory from puberty to young adulthood as adolescents gained more and improved coping skills. Additionally, choosing unhealthy coping behaviors may actually increase stress for the adolescent and create a cyclical pattern in which stress leads to even greater stress and symptomatology, such as anxiety and depression, or further negative behaviors (Seiffge-Krenke, 2000).

Pregnancy is considered to be a stressor at the level of a major life event for a healthy married adult woman. One study pointed to the combined effects of the typical stressors of adolescence and that of adjusting to pregnancy as the source of the poor infant outcomes often observed in adolescent pregnancy (Keenan, Sheffield, & Boeldt, 2007).

Anxiety

Anxiety is difficult to separate from stress since the two concepts typically coincide. Bay and Algase (2002) define anxiety as a heightened state of uneasiness related to a potential nonspecific threat. The responses related to anxiety include increased tension, worry, restlessness, and cardiovascular excitation (Bay & Algase, 2002). A reported increase in anxiety and stress during pregnancy was correlated with preterm delivery according to Glynn and colleagues (2008). Additionally, children were found to display emotional problems and attention disorders at the age of four when their mothers experienced high levels of anxiety during pregnancy (O'Connor, Heron, Golding, Beveridge, & Glover, 2002). However, no relationship was found between anxiety and preterm birth by Dayan and colleagues (2006). The findings related exclusively to anxiety during pregnancy are limited; most studies also examined depression.

Common Sources of Psychosocial Stress

Family response. It is commonly assumed, at least in developed countries like the United States, that a family's response to pregnancy during adolescence is negative, and frequently this is the case. However, the family's response may also be related to the

societal norms in their individual geographic region (Macleod & Weaver, 2003; Parsons, 2003). For example, pregnancy during adolescence is more likely to be desired and even seen as adaptive, especially in impoverished communities and among Hispanic and African American girls (Davies et al., 2003; Heavey, Moysich, Hyland, Druschel, & Sill; Rocca, Doherty, Padian, Hubbard, & Minnis, 2010). Also, the initial response of the family may differ from its continued response following resolution of any differences of opinion in how to handle the pregnancy. The emotional struggles that often accompany decisions regarding whether to terminate or continue the pregnancy and whether to keep the infant or allow it to be adopted may cause tremendous emotional turmoil within a family (Bartell, 2005).

Parental reactions of anger may stem from the inescapable realization of the adolescent's sexual activity, which may not be condoned; parents may also experience anger related to the loss of innocence in their child, or a feeling that they have somehow failed to parent adequately (Bartell, 2005). Feelings of betrayal by the adolescent have also been reported by the parents of pregnant adolescents (Dallas, 2004). Additionally, parents of pregnant adolescents may experience frustration over their changing role from parent to grandparent and to not feel adequately prepared for the transition (Dallas, 2004).

Difficulty communicating and poor relationship with parents prior to adolescent pregnancy also increased communication difficulty regarding the pregnancy among Latina adolescents (Lloyd, 2004). However, in the same study, Lloyd (2004) found that pregnancy often improved communication and relationships between the adolescent and her parents. When the prevailing attitude of the adolescent's unique cultural and societal norms are more accepting of pregnancy in adolescence, many adolescents actually report

positive family response and support, especially when the adolescent's own attitude regarding the pregnancy was positive (Macleod & Weaver, 2003).

Research regarding the response of the father's parents in the literature is extremely sparse. However, Davies and colleagues (2004) reported that most adolescent fathers in their study had positive family support. Interestingly, several participants in this particular study with African American adolescent males reported that their parents were actually excited about the pregnancy (Davies et al., 2004). Several parents of adolescent fathers questioned the paternity, and had concerns regarding their involvement in child care activities, increased responsibility, and an end to the freedom of their youth (Davies et al., 2004). Further studies are needed to confirm these findings.

Paternal response. The reaction of the father of the baby to the announcement of the pregnancy is also limited in research literature. However, Davies and colleagues (2004) reported that generally adolescent men do not desire for their partners to become pregnant and are only seeking to "hit and run". While most fathers did not intend for their partners to become pregnant (n = 14), 39% of the sample of adolescent fathers in the study by Davies and colleagues (2004) actually desired that their partners become pregnant (n = 12). Herrman (2008) reported that adolescent men are concerned about the financial implications of becoming a father and the negative implications for future romantic relationships. The limited research to date on the response to pregnancy by adolescent males requires more research, as it is yet relatively unexplored. The studies reviewed here both examined samples of minority or at risk youth.

Summary

To conclude, stress, or stress in combination with anxiety and depression has been shown to negatively impact the outcomes of birth and pregnancy in most of the studies considered, although there were a minority that did not find stress to be related to preterm birth or LBW. Some contradicting results may be explained by differences in timing, manner of measurement, or conceptualization of stress. Relatively consistent findings point to stress as a predictor of poor outcomes of pregnancy and birth. Therefore, it is important to describe the experience of stress for pregnant adolescents to develop effective coping and stress reduction strategies and possibly reduce the associated negative outcomes.

There are a limited number of studies that explore the relationship between psychosocial stress and negative pregnancy, birth, and developmental outcomes among pregnant adolescents. The majority of research in this area has targeted adult pregnant women. Further research is needed to describe the experience of stress from the perspective of a pregnant adolescent to more fully understand what interventions may be most effective in supporting this vulnerable group.

CHAPTER 3

METHODOLOGY

Purpose

The purpose of this qualitative research was to describe the adolescent's perception and experience of stress during pregnancy, and to illuminate which social, family, environmental, or any other experiences are deemed stressful to determine where interventions may be most needed and desired by the adolescent in hopes of impacting the negative sequelae associated with prenatal stress.

Research Questions

The following research questions were used for this study:

- 1. How do pregnant adolescents construct what is stressful?
- 2. How is the relationship between the adolescent and her family, peers, and significant other characterized?
- 3. Are there economic or other environmental factors that are characterized as stressful during adolescent pregnancy?

Conceptual Framework

Stress, Appraisal, and Coping

According to Lazarus and Folkman's (1984) model of stress, appraisal and coping stressors are perceived when an individual appraises a situation to tax or exceed

their resources; then depending on the context of the stressor, physiologic and behavioral coping mechanisms are utilized to bring the person back into homeostasis (Lazarus, 1993; Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). The process of cognitive appraisal or perception of the stressor is influenced by the nature of the stressor and internal and external coping resources; a person's perception of a stressor is key in the degree of the stress response, as is the method of coping (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). Appraisal is a highly individual process and different individuals may appraise the same situation in different ways (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). In light of this and the qualitative perspective used in this research, pregnant adolescents may perceive stressors differently than their adult counterparts or their non-pregnant peers, which makes understanding their perspective and unique set of stressors key in assisting them in coping or eliminating the stressors.

Ever changing factors that affect the outcomes of stress in Lazarus and Folkman's model include antecedents and process variables (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). Antecedent factors which affect the perception of the nature and degree of a particular stressor include personal factors such as intelligence, beliefs, and maturity, as well as social support from family and significant others, and other resources such as economic or environmental factors (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). Other antecedent factors, such as poverty, poor nutrition, and lack of social support, may lead to increased vulnerability to stressors (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984).

Process variables include type of coping and appraisal of the stressor, both of which mediate the relationship between antecedents and outcomes of stressors (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). Due to the individualistic nature of appraising a stressor, it is imperative to appreciate what adolescents identify as stressful from their perspective so that the

antecedents and process variables that are amenable to change can be part of interventions targeted toward this group.

Life Course Framework

The Life Course Framework will be utilized to examine the perception of stress in the life of pregnant adolescents. Life course theory seems to be particularly promising for the development of interventions to moderate these effects, because this framework addresses the normative timing or sequence of events in the life of a family and their relationship to societal norms, as well as ontogenetic development (White & Klein, 2008). Family development theory, which is one of the life course theories, maintains that if pregnancy during adolescence deviates in timing and sequence from societal norms it is likely to be experienced as stressful due to a number of disruptions in the normative path of family development (White & Klein, 2008). An aim of this research is to explore the life course perspective as it relates to the experience of stress during adolescent pregnancy. The life course perspective informs research in this area because of its focus on the impact of maternal stress during fetal development on health in later life (M. Lu et al., 2010). The trajectories of health are particularly vulnerable during the sensitive periods of fetal development and adolescence (Fine & Kotelchuck, 2010), which makes pregnancy for an adolescent a doubly susceptible period.

Individual life span theory is based in the ontogenetic development of an individual and the factors that affect this development (White & Klein, 2008). These factors are related to family environment and include biobehavioral pathways of transmission to the fetus during pregnancy and genetic risk factors or fetal programming, as well as allostatic

load (Kotelchuck, 2003; M. Lu et al., 2010). Schoon and colleagues (2002) note that it is the intermingling of social risk factors with the family environment and individual characteristics that determine the impact of these factors on the development of the individual.

Life course theory examines the individual's event history within the context of society, family, and timing of these events to evaluate the effects on development of the individual and the family life cycle (White & Klein, 2008). Bengston and colleagues (2005) note that the life course perspective highlights transitions and trajectories through the course of life, such as marriage, childbirth, and work that are intertwined with the trajectories of others, especially those of immediate family.

Application of life course perspective. Macmillan and Copher (2005) state that life course research is grounded in the proposition that human development is ordered according to societal rules over the life course. This is the basis for their interpretation of adolescent pregnancy wherein the timing and sequence of pregnancy determine its meaning (Macmillan & Copher, 2005). For example, the timing of pregnancy during adolescence was not outside societal norms for a large part of the 20th century, until the sequence of adolescent pregnancy, prior to marriage, became more prevalent (Macmillan & Copher, 2005). The determination of whether or not a development is consistent with family roles and norms depends upon internal family norms and societal or institutional norms. There are cultural and familial contexts in which unwed adolescent pregnancy is not contrary to expected family roles or norms and does not alter individual or family development trajectories.

The life course perspective has implications for reducing disparities among pregnant adolescents. Interventions that consider an integrative approach to improving the biological, psychological, behavioral, and social determinants of health prior to conception may well be more successful in reducing disparities in birth outcomes (M. C. Lu & Halfon, 2003). Life course theory suggests a long term commitment to public and women's health to improve outcomes for maternal child birth and developmental outcomes (M. C. Lu & Halfon, 2003). The strengths of life course theory include the global, holistic focus on individuals situated within the context of their families which is similar to that of nursing (Black, Holditch-Davis, & Miles, 2009), and its ability to link theoretical perspectives and levels of analysis (Macmillan & Copher, 2005).

Concepts

Several concepts are important in life course theory. First, family change and family development, two terms which may be used interchangeably, seem to have different meaning depending on which approach is used. From the perspective of child development or individual life course, ontogenetic change and development are the focus, but a sociological or family development perspective relates change and development to family stage and events (White & Klein, 2008). Second, positions, norms, and roles are concepts common to family life course theories. White and Klein (2008) define position within the family as a kinship structure defined by gender, marriage, or blood relationship, and generational relationships. Norms are societal rules that govern behavior, and family role is the combination of the norms associated with a specific position (Macmillan & Copher, 2005; White & Klein, 2008). Third, family stage or context is

common to family life course theories which is defined by events that change the organization or membership of the family (Macmillan & Copher, 2005; White & Klein, 2008). *Transition* is the fourth concept common to family life course theory and is related to change from one family stage to another such as from being single to being married (Macmillan & Copher, 2005; White & Klein, 2008).

Stressors, or stress stimuli, as described by Lazarus and Folkman (1984) are personal or environmental events that impose upon a person and may be characterized as major changes or daily hassles. The concept of *coping* may be divided into two types, as well. First, problem focused coping aims to change the situation, and second, emotion focused coping attempts to reduce the emotional distress associated with a stressor (Lazarus, 1993). *Appraisal* of a stressor is defined as the process of categorizing an encounter's impact on the individual's well-being (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984).

Propositions

The propositions that encompass these concepts vary within each perspective and depend on the level of analysis, but the following are shared as they relate to family development (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984; White & Klein, 2008):

- Development is a process regulated by timing and sequencing norms.
- When the normative ordering of events is out of sequence, the probability of later life disruption is increased.
- Interactions within family groups create internal norms, influenced by social norms.

- Personal and environmental antecedent factors interdependently influence cognitive appraisal and coping.
- Appraisal and coping mediate the relationship between antecedents and outcomes and determine the outcomes of stressful life situations.

Summary

While life course theory, as it pertains to birth outcomes, is still being developed and improved it provides a holistic lens through which to view individual and family development and to develop biological and psychosocial interventions that reduce the risk of negative birth and developmental outcomes. Applying life course theory to the understanding of psychosocial stress during adolescent pregnancy may yield interventions that will limit this stress and thus reduce the negative outcomes associated with adolescent childbearing on the ever intertwined maternal and family life course, as well as the developmental trajectory of the unborn child. First though, the pregnant adolescent's perception of stress must be more fully understood. Nursing research would benefit from the use of the life course theory as a theoretical foundation due to the implications for a lifelong approach to health and well-being and societal implications. Nurses are primary candidates for putting this theory into practice because of the focus on preventive care.

Design

Method

In keeping with the purpose of this study to describe the adolescent's perception and experience of stress exposures during pregnancy, qualitative descriptions were utilized. Qualitative description is a naturalistic form of inquiry that values the phenomenon presented in its natural state, or as if it were not being studied (Sandelowski, 2000, 2010). The naturalistic and holistic perspective of data collected via qualitative inquiry is embedded in its context, which reveals complexities and does not seek to minimize variability (Miles & Huberman, 1994b). This research sought to explore the complex experience of stress perceived by pregnant adolescents in varying geographical and cultural contexts within the life course of the individual adolescent. Participants from rural, suburban, and urban geographic regions and as many varying ethnicities as feasible were included to gain the richest understanding of stress experienced by pregnant adolescents. Petersen and Leffert (1995) highlight the importance of considering the adolescent against the background of the life course, including the impact of prior childhood development and future expectations for adulthood. Thus, interviews with pregnant adolescents included past, present, and future oriented questions related to the perception of stress to gain a context for the perception of the pregnancy and any related stressors.

Exploratory descriptive studies employing qualitative description yield a summary of events, which are depicted in everyday language, staying close to the data as given (Nusbaum et al., 2008; Sandelowski, 2000, 2010). Additionally, the analysis of data derived via qualitative interviews can yield organized displays and vivid descriptions of findings that enhance the validity or confidence in those findings (Miles & Huberman, 1994a). These descriptive summaries are useful as they stand alone and contribute to the knowledge in a particular field, and also as a stepping stone to further more in depth inquiry (Sandelowski, 2000). This study will serve as a springboard for further interventional research with pregnant adolescents and their families.

Participants

Pregnant adolescents aged 15 to 19 years were recruited in central Alabama urban, suburban, and rural settings for participation in the study. Urban participants were recruited through a local community mentoring program for pregnant and parenting adolescent mothers. Suburban participants were recruited through flyers distributed in the case management office at a local hospital where the researcher is familiar. Additional participants were recruited in an obstetric clinic located in a rural town in central Alabama. Interviews were conducted in a setting the adolescent chooses and feels most at ease. Potential locations for the interviews included the adolescent's home, a public setting of the adolescent's choosing, or a private room in the setting where the participant is recruited (Appendix C).

Adolescents younger than 15 years were excluded because that age is typically defined as early adolescence and has been associated with poorer obstetric outcomes than the older group (Phipps, Rosengard, Weitzen, Meers, & Billinkoff, 2008; Phipps & Sowers, 2002). Also, adolescents considered to be in middle and late adolescence (ages 15-19 years) are targeted because of the likelihood that they have increased cognitive ability and psychological development that allows clearer decision making regarding participation and discussion of sensitive topics (Petersen & Leffert, 1995). While individuals between 17 and 20 years of age are often considered to be in late adolescence (Drake, 1996), those greater than 19 years old were excluded because that age group is typically included in research with pregnant adults. Additionally, the CDC reports adolescent pregnancy statistics among those less than 20 years of age (Hamilton, Martin, & Ventura, 2010; Pazol et al., 2011). Pregnant adolescents greater than 37 weeks gestation were ex-

cluded due to the inability to conduct follow-up interviews prior to the conclusion of the pregnancy.

Sampling

Urban, suburban, and rural settings were included to achieve a full description of the phenomenon of stress with a variety of demographic characteristics. Maximum variation purposeful sampling was employed to uncover cases that richly describe stress in adolescent pregnancy and continued until informational redundancy is reached (Sandelowski, 1995, 2000). That is, new cases were recruited until the data that was collected no longer presented any new themes or concepts and became repetitive of themes observed in previous participants' interviews. Data saturation will be said to have occurred and sampling will cease when no new information is found and the researcher's inferences are confirmed (Morse, 2007). An initial sample of 10-15 pregnant adolescents was recruited. Every effort was made to include pregnant adolescents of various ethnic backgrounds and minority status and socioeconomic status (SES) to ensure a broad range of responses. The Hollingshead four factor socioeconomic status (SES) scale will be administered to determine family SES (Hollingshead, 1975).

Recruitment

Eligible participants, known to be pregnant and between the ages of 15 and 19 years, were approached by the researcher with a written flyer describing the study that was provided at that time. The flyer listed study details and contact information for the principal investigator (PI). Contact information was gathered from any interested partici-

pants and potential interviews were scheduled. Also, flyers were posted in the recruiting sites so potential participants not in attendance when the PI was present at recruiting site may still be enlisted in the study. Any interested participants not initially approached by the PI were encouraged to call for more information. Further details regarding the intent and procedures of the study were provided to any interested participants by the PI upon contacting potential participants via phone or in person at the place of recruitment. An incentive of \$10 was offered for each interview conducted (Appendix C).

Informed Consent

Written informed consent was obtained in person by the PI from any eligible and interested participants, as well as consent from a parent or guardian if the participant was less than 18 years of age. Participants were made aware that they were free to withdraw from the study at any time for any reason without penalty. The population under investigation was vulnerable in that they may be minors and because they were pregnant. Therefore, it is important to note that the risk involved in participation was minimal for mother and fetus, and included minor emotional distress related to the recall of stressful life events and experiences (Appendix A).

Data Collection

Following the consent process, the PI set up and conducted audio recorded anonymous one-to-one interviews with the participants, lasting 60-90 min. Interviews took place in a private space in the home of the adolescent or a private space in the clinic or recruiting site, whichever was preferable to the participant. Interviews followed a semistructured open ended guide (Appendix B). Triangulation, the use of multiple methods, sources, or vantage points to increase validity in findings, was accomplished by interviewing participants at two different times prior to delivery when possible and necessary to confirm or clarify findings (time triangulation) (Polit & Beck, 2008). Two interviews were conducted if there was ample time prior to delivery and if a follow up interview was necessary to clarify data gathered in the first interview. Interviewing urban, suburban, and rural dwelling participants will achieve triangulation of space (geography) and person (Polit & Beck, 2008). Field notes were made following any contact with the participants (phone or in person) and used to document the context of the interview; notes were recorded promptly following interviews, and any initial thoughts or impressions included (Thorne, Kirkham, & MacDonald-Emes, 1997). Field notes included the demeanor, appearance, and any other characteristics of the participants not discernible on audio recording. If the interview took place in the home setting of the adolescent, a physical description of the setting was included. Effort was made to ensure privacy and reduce distraction in the home setting by asking that household members allow the participant to speak privately with the PI without interruption if possible. All interviews were then transcribed verbatim by a transcriptionist certified in IRB privacy and confidentiality policies and checked for accuracy by the PI. Participants remained anonymous on audio recordings, identified only by code, and all communications remained confidential. Any names or identifiable characteristics were deleted in the transcript. All notes and transcribed data were stored on a password protected, encrypted Iron Key flash drive.

Analysis

Line by line coding is used in qualitative content analysis, wherein codes are generated from the data (Sandelowski, 2000), to identify recurring themes, words, or ideas integral to the perception of stress as a pregnant adolescent, with the intent to summarize categories of data described by participants. Initial codes will stem from research questions, but coding will be continuously responsive to emerging themes within the data. Qualitative content analysis is more reflexive and interactive than its quantitative counterpart as it flows from the data but stays closer to the surface of the data than other forms of qualitative analysis (Sandelowski, 2000). Content analysis in a qualitative study does not demand the data be interpreted but allows language to be treated solely as a vehicle of communication and not an interpretive structure (Sandelowski, 2000, 2010). This is appropriate in light of the descriptive nature of the study that aimed to discover the types of stressors perceived by pregnant adolescents. Codes were continuously refined as interviews were analyzed. Resulting themes were compared among urban, suburban, and rural groups or other organizing characteristics that emerged from the data and organized according to shared and dissimilar findings across groups. Any themes that were discerned to show differences among other comparative lines, such as race or SES, were also illuminated.

An audit trail of all codes and interpretations were maintained for future checking. The input of at least two seasoned qualitative researchers was sought as data was collected and analysis began to perform an inquiry audit that ensured dependability and trustworthiness (Polit & Beck, 2008).

CHAPTER 4

FINDINGS

A total of 11 adolescents were recruited and interviewed for the purpose of this research, which was to describe the perception and experience of stress from the perspective of pregnant adolescents. Approval for this study was received from the Institutional Review Board (IRB) of the University of Alabama at Birmingham (Appendix A). Two teens were successfully recruited in the first month with the original incentive of \$10 for an audio taped interview lasting approximately 1-2 hr. However, after 2 months of unfruitful attempts at recruiting further subjects an addendum was submitted to the IRB to increase the incentive to \$20. Following approval of the increase in incentive recruitment resumed at a productive pace. Recruiting took place over a period of 5 months at three sites. The sites were situated in an urban, suburban, and rural geographic location. The urban site was an inner city women's health clinic; the suburban site was a private OB/GYN clinic, and the rural site was a counselor's office of a high school which served a rural population. Flyers were posted and distributed in each of these locations that described the study and key stake holders at each site were identified and contacted frequently to check for potential participants.

Thirteen potential participants were identified and 11 of those agreed to participate. Two screened participants had recently delivered their baby and did not meet the study criteria. Screening and informed consent were done immediately prior to the interview for nine of the participants. The remaining two participants were leaving the office

upon screening and were met and interviewed at their next appointment or more convenient time. Waiting 24 hr following consent and scheduling a follow up meeting was considered a risk for attrition because many of the participants relied heavily on another person for transportation. Consent was also received from a parent or guardian when they were present with the adolescent. However, parental consent was not required because all of the participants were pregnant and legally able to make informed decisions for them at the time of the interview.

The participants ranged in age from 15-19 years old. The urban group consisted of 6 teens ages 15-19 years. There were two teens in the suburban group, ages 18-19 years, and three teens in the rural group who were 16-18 years old. Forty five percent of the participants were African American, 45% were Caucasian, and 9% were multi racial. All of the adolescents were between 13 and 36 weeks gestational age at the time of the interview. SES of each family was measured using the Hollingshead Four Factor Social Status Index (Hollingshead, 1975), and the results showed a diverse group from the lower to upper end of the scale. Fifty five percent of the participants resided with their mothers and siblings; the remaining participants lived with their grandmothers (18%), both parents (9%), both grandparents (9%), or with the father of the baby (9%). See Table 1 for details.

Table 1 Sociodemographic Characteristics (n = 11)

Characteristic	Frequency (%)	Mean	Range
Age in years		16.9	15-19
Rural		17.3	16-18
Suburban		18.5	18-19
Urban		16.2	15-19
Current grade in school		10.5	
Rural		11.7	11th-12th
Suburban		High school diploma	High school diploma
Urban			9th–High school diploma
Gestational age		27.6	13-36
Rural		28.3	21-35
Suburban		31.5	29-34
Urban		26	13-36
Hollingshead Social Status Factor*		31.3	19-61
Rural		39	27-61
Suburban		24.8	22-27.5
Urban		29.7	19-54
Resides			
Lives with both parents	1 (9)		
Lives with both grandparents	1 (9)		
Lives with mother	6 (55)		
Lives with grandmother	2 (18)		
Lives with father of baby	1 (9)		
Ethnicity			
African American	5 (45)		
Caucasian	5 (45)		
Multi-racial	1 (9)		

Note: *Hollingshead Four Factor Social Status Index (Hollingshead, 1975) combines education and employment status of immediate family or guardians to give an indication of socioeconomic status.

Themes

The qualitative content analysis of the transcribed interviews revealed four major themes in the data with several subthemes in each category (Appendix D). The most frequently discussed theme related to the response of family and others to the pregnancy. This was followed closely by concerns about the future or looking ahead. Social and physical changes, and plans for the future were the third most common theme, and finally, fears and concerns about safety and dependence on others were a frequently mentioned category. The participants discussed the experience of their pregnancy in terms of what had been difficult or stressful for them and also offered comments about the positive changes that were related to the pregnancy.

Stated and Perceived Responses

The most commonly discussed theme in all of the interviews related to the response or reaction to the pregnancy by the adolescent and her family, significant other or father of the baby, friends, church members, and even people out in public. All of the teens reported being personally shocked and fearful of the responses of their family especially their parents or guardian because they felt the parent would be disappointed or angry. This was a perception of or anticipation of the negative response that was found to be true in most of the cases.

Personal response. None of the participants in the study reported intending to become pregnant, and all of the teens stated in one way or another that they were shocked to find out they were indeed pregnant.

One teen described the shock of finding out she was pregnant,

Well, when I found out I was pregnant it was a shock which was a shock to me cauz I didn't want to be pregnant, especially not this age and time. Cauz I didn't know what I was going to do, who was going to help me or nothing.

Other participants commented that they did not believe the result of the test and took several for confirmation.

So I went to the store and I bought 2 pregnancy tests. They come 2 in a box. Was both of them positive but I didn't believe neither one of them. Then I went got me another one and I still didn't believe that one either. And so I say okay I'm gone go to the doctor tomorrow. So then the next day I got my neighbor to take me to Save a Life. And I took it there and she was like, yeah you're pregnant.

However, there was a general sense of taking responsibility for her actions with each of the teens. One in particular explicitly stated this sense of responsibility, "When you lay down with somebody you know what you're doing. You know what I'm saying? You know you're risks and your high factors and everything that people say you don't know, you already know." This teen was implying that she and other teens like her knew that they were risking pregnancy when they had sex.

Family response. The reaction to the news of the pregnancy by the girl's family was difficult for all of the participants. The teens consistently reported that their mothers and other guardians were disappointed and even angry at times. Frequently there were discussions regarding the implications of the pregnancy on the teen's future and her increased responsibilities because of the baby: "Then she said, she said 'I hope you gone take care, I hope you gone step up to the plate and take care of this responsibility." Another participant stated that her mother ended her financial and emotional support when she told her about the pregnancy,

She told me, I'm not going to be mad. You're gonna have to leave and you're gonna have to do it by yourself. I can't do it and work. And she's pretty much done that. And that's been the hardest part. The lack of support from her.

One of the participants described her family's regret this way, "They weren't angry, they was just mad cause I ain't, I didn't come to them and tell them that I was sexual, having sexual activity. And they just wished they could've helped me to stop this from happening."

Some of the participants talked about family history and dynamics that impacted the response of her parents,

My dad just like left the room like he was out of his body, he wasn't even in there. He was just like looking at the ceiling like, oh my gosh, cause my older sister when she turned 18, we call it backsliding. Like she went wild. She went crazy.

Another participant had a twin sister who was pregnant for the second time in two years at age 15. Her father was disappointed because he had hoped she had learned from her sister's experience. One participant discussed her grandmother's reaction and attempt to make her have an abortion.

Granny, I'm pregnant. And she was, what? And then she was mad. She just didn't want to talk to me. She was mad. She was like, well you're fixing to have a abortion, and you know. And I was like Granny I don't want to have a abortion. She said okay. I don't know what you're going to do then. Because she said cauz I can't do it. She said you're fixing to have an abortion and I'll pay. I said Granny please don't make me do that. Please. And she was like, I was like, then I told, then the people say, like she can't make you have a abortion. I said okay. So then I said Granny, you can't make me do it. You can't make me do it. She was like, oh you'll see. You'll see. And then she just really just, it just blowed away. Just like you know, she just accepted it.

In most cases the initial reaction of the family changed from disappointed and angry to acceptance and support over time. There were a few participants however that experienced a long term negative change in their relationship with their own mother.

Significant other response. In nine of the interviews the significant other's response was similar to that of the teen. He was shocked and concerned about the implications for the future. In general, the significant other was a source of support and not stress. One participant described her significant other's sense of sharing in the responsibility,

I wasn't worried about what he would say. Cause I know he wouldn't leave me or anything like that. And I mean he was just like he was kinda sad because he didn't want me to be no momma at no young age. But he said this was our consequences of having sex and he accepted it.

Several of the teens talked about the financial support that the father of the baby was providing or planned to provide once the baby was born. At least two of the teens in the urban group discussed concerns about where the significant other was getting the money to help her out,

Oh um he's getting money but I don't know where. He say he working but he, he don't tell me where he working at. So I don't know. I hope he be safe wherever he getting the money from. I don't know. So. I don't want to have this baby and he's six feet under. I hope he ain't selling no drugs. I hope he ain't stealing. Cause that's what really be on my mind.

In two of the cases paternity was questioned by the significant other and this led to arguments and stress for the pregnant teen,

And I said well you gotta take care of me to take care of the baby. I said cauz the baby's in me. I said so if I'm not eating right or if I'm not, if I'm stressed out cauz I'm so worried about you, that's not helping this baby. At all. I said cauz we stressing out about was you and what you're doing and where you're at and who you're with, I said it's not helping the situation.

Another teen who had an on again off again relationship with the father of the baby described arguing with his other girlfriend about his lack of support for the baby,

And like he went to my first few doctor appointments with me. And then he stopped going cause of her. And cause she don't want him around me. I looked at her and I was like you must be his girlfriend for this week. And um I was like I'm

going to let you know I'm pregnant by this man. He's not gonna do nothing for you. I mean, he's not doing nothing for the kid he got on the way. He not gonna do nothing for you. She got mad about that. Cause she didn't want to hear what I had to say.

Most of the teens remained in the relationship with their significant other and felt supported by them:

He's been really great. He's been really awesome about it. He had a full ride at XXX and he ended up staying home and he goes to XXX State now. I feel like he was really scared. I think he was kinda scared about the same kind of stuff I was. College and his parents. And but he you know, tried to stay strong and he's done a pretty good job. He's done a pretty good job. I guess we're still both really scared. I don't think that goes away.

Friend response. Teens in all three geographic groups indicated that their friends had been somewhat supportive but that support tended to wane as the pregnancy progressed due to differing priorities and concerns.

One participant commented,

I have lost a good bit of my friends and it's just, I mean, we haven't you know argued or anything. It's just they've just kind of, I can't do anything you know. I can't really go out on weekends. I can't spend money. Can't you know. So we've just all grown distant.

Several other teens across geographic groups noted that you find out who your real friends are when you are pregnant, because those who weren't true friends may gossip about you, let you down with empty promises of support, or just stop including you in social activities. One of the teens in the urban group described this sense of disappointment when her friends didn't follow through with a promised baby shower:

Some of them, some of them like I'm gone be there. Let me know when the baby shower is so I can buy him some of everything. It's gone be mighty nice. Some of them did not show. I called them, I text them, we still was talking on every day basis. So then they didn't show. So I was like, okay. They gone go their way, and I'll go my way.

In general though, there were more stories of friend support in the urban group than the other two groups combined.

Judgment. A sense of being judged, talked about, and disapproval was mentioned by several of the teens. This was experienced in several settings such as school, home, church, and even out in public while out shopping or looking for a job. Many of the participants felt indignant at the comments made, especially by strangers. However, there was not always a spoken word or objective action that led to the teens' feeling of being judged. Often it was a perception or subjective fear that caused the teen to feel that she was being judged. One participant described her experience in a store,

I overheard like one of them in the store, they was like, she too young to be pregnant, having a baby. And I'm looking like you don't know my story, you don't know my life, so don't just judge me on being pregnant.

Two of the participants from the rural group described what it was like to go to school,

Like I'll be sitting in class and girls make remarks. I can hear them make remarks about why do you want to be pregnant or something, talking to somebody else, not talking to me, but I don't know, it's just hard for me to get along with some people. Because of their mouth and the stuff they say.

It's just embarassing. Now it's just kind of like, you know, whatever. Like I'm getting, I'm to the point where I'm like at peace about it, you know. It's happening. You've just got to take it. Let it happen. But it's just really bad. To be in school is just embarrassing.

A suburban participant also discussed what it was like to no longer be able to perform as a church pianist because she was pregnant,

I quit going to my church for like 2 months just because nobody at my church knew yet. My parents knew. When my parents found out, I played on the piano one more time and then they took me off. Oh. I cried. I cried and cried. Cause I love playing the piano. Out of all the instruments I played, I love playing the piano. And when they took me off I'm like oh my gosh, I was like, they have no music now.

Finally, one of the urban participants recounted her experience of job hunting while pregnant,

And I'm try I'm gone try I'm trying my best to look for a job but right now they not hiring pregnant women. And once they see that belly they'll know they don't care if you finish high school or not if you pregnant they don't want you on the job. The jobs that are available but none of them not available where they tell me they available then when I come in they see that belly and they don't want to hire me.

Looking Ahead

The next category included concerns about the future such as finances, finishing school or attending college, and caring for the baby. The teens were all looking ahead and attempting to make plans to take care of themselves and their baby.

Finances. Having enough money or the resources needed to provide for the baby was the second most common code found in the data set. One of the more succinct comments was from one of the urban participants, "When the baby come, it's never enough money to take care of a baby." Another participant described concerns and plans regarding getting a job and working while having to think about finding childcare,

I am gone get a job, trying to get hired where my grandma work. But that's a fulltime job. It's stressful. And I'd be working from like 12 hour shifts but it's good money so and I can always trust my grandma with my child.

Another participant talked about the new financial responsibilities she had to assume because her mother would no longer provide them for her,

So I pretty much have to support myself financially. I buy my own clothes. I have to pay for my copay at the doctor, I have to put gas in the car. I do drive her car. So she's let me do that. But I have to pay for gas, pay for clothes, pay for the vitamins and stuff. A lot of the baby stuff I've already paid for.

School. One of the sequelae of adolescent pregnancy and birth is the elevated high school dropout rate. Almost all of the teens who had not completed high school yet had plans to finish and get a diploma. Only one participant in the urban group intended to drop out and get a GED. Several teens discussed their renewed focus at school so that they could make good grades and be better able to provide for their child. The thought of becoming a mother was reported by many of the teens to give them direction and motivation,

Well last year I was making really bad grades and I found out right before school was out last year that I was pregnant. And I was making horrible grades. And this year my grades are like so much better. And some of my teachers told me that me being pregnant made me smarter. It's just that I want to have good grades so I can be something in life. And not just be 16 and pregnant and not have nothing.

However, the teens also discussed the impact of the pregnancy on their ability to complete school under the circumstances. They talked about realities of work, childcare, attending school, and studying. One of the participants talked about the hardship this would be for her custodial grandmother,

But then she was like, but one thing you can't do, you can't quit school. And I don't want to quit school. But then I have to like think about well, who's going to watch the baby while I'm at school, and who's going to do this and that, and my grandmother was like, I'll help you. She was like I'll watch the baby while you're at school, which is something I still don't have worked all the way out because of the fact I've got a 4-year-old brother is going to be at home with her, plus a newborn. And she's 62. I think that's going to be kind of hard on her. But then somebody was telling me about the JCCO. And they have a day care thing that you can send them to. Thinking about it but don't know.

Another participant talked about how school had become more difficult for her due to the pregnancy:

Not necessarily the pregnancy itself but I guess all the factors surrounding it. The stress, it's like your mind's somewhere else. I've had to work more. So I don't get

to study and stuff. So the pregnancy itself not so much, but the factors around it. Definitely affects my grades.

Changes

Pregnancy was not normative for any of the teens who participated in the study. Therefore, the pregnancy interrupted the anticipated life course trajectory for these teens and also their families of origin. There were changes in future plans for college and careers, changes in relationships, as well as physical changes that were stressful for the teens because of the undesired and unplanned nature of the pregnancy. However, there were also positive changes associated with the pregnancy in some relationships and in focus and motivation.

Relationships. For many of the teens there was a temporary negative effect on the relationship with family, but there were cases where the negative change had not resolved over time. One participant in the urban group grieved the change in her relationship with her mother,

It's not the way I want it to be. It's very different. I mean, me and my momma we kinda lost touch because of this and my daddy, my daddy been more supportive than my mother and me and my mother, we was very close. But since I've been pregnant, she just lost our touch and that's kinda hurting because I want that close bond with my momma. But that's, I don't believe that's ever going to ever get back to that bond.

One of the teens from the rural group discussed her strained relationship with her family that she attributed to racial tension because the father of the baby was African American and she was Caucasian:

I wish my mom would be here for me. She was here for my sister through her pregnancy but when I got pregnant it seemed like it didn't matter. It sorta hurts

but I guess she just brush it off like it don't matter. It hurts in a way. And also my child is well, I want to say biracial. She's mixed. Her dad's mixed and I'm white so, she's still gone be part black. And my family, a lot of them, don't believe in that. Like my mom and them, they're sorta, they say they're not, but they are, racist. And my child shouldn't have to go through that. But she does. And I feel like if they're gonna be like that then I don't want neither, none of them around my child. Cause to me, all it takes is for one time somebody to call my child a name or disrespect my child cause she's black and it's gonna cause problems. Cause I feel like God made everybody. Maybe it was not his intention for whites and blacks to be together or whatever anybody says, but it's happening left and right these days. So they can't change it.

Social change. Changes in relationships with friends often led to social isolation. This social change was a frequently discussed theme in seven of the eleven interviews. At times this change was attributed to the teen's lack of spending money and other times it was associated with choosing to stay away from activities that would put the teen or the baby at risk. For example, one of the rural participants commented, "Well I obviously can't drink or smoke. And a lot of my friends like to party and so I obviously can't do that. So definitely that crowd is out." Another urban participant discussed her social isolation as it related to her physical safety,

Can't go out and spend the night over friend's house. Can't really do everything that I used to do cause I'm gone kind of be stay in the house to make sure I'm safe and make sure don't nothing go wrong while I'm out. See, cause areas like this, you have to be very safe. Cause you know before then, when you wasn't pregnant, you could take off running and all that but now while you're pregnant and you're out like at parties and teen clubs you have to worry about fighting, the pushing, the shooting, the running and all that.

Personal change. Some of the social change was also attributed to physical and emotional change brought on by the pregnancy. Several of the teens cited fatigue and moodiness as reasons they no longer went out with their friends. One participant stated, "They said that I was acting moody. I was getting very lazy. They said I come in class

and just lay down and don't want to be bothered or touched." Another teen described it this way,

It's just like you know it's like they, when I get around them, they want to do this and they want to go out and all that and I really, you know I don't want to be, I don't be in the mood to do all that. I be, all I do is sleep for real. I sleep all the time. It's changed. I used to stay up all I want to do is lay down and sleep.

One of the other urban participants attributed her social change to emotional liability which is commonly associated with the hormones of pregnancy:

I just stay in my room and lay down cause I be so moody and I don't be like to get mad at folks so I just tell them I won't talk to you, but mess with you, I feel with them, everything still the same. They don't come around for real cause I tell them to stay away.

Change of plans for the future. Several of the teens spoke about how their pregnancy changed their plans or their parents' plans for their future, and how becoming pregnant would make reaching those goals more difficult if not impossible. One of the urban participants discussed her father's plan for her future,

He was, he told me that that my twin sister just had a baby so why you ain't gone finish school and go to college and get married then have children? But I said I mean I didn't know. But even though I knew what I was doing, but you know I didn't know I was going to get pregnant. Really. It happened. So it didn't go as it planned.

A suburban participant also talked about the changes she was making in her college plans after she had to turn down a full music scholarship to a state university because of the pregnancy:

But I still graduated in May with an advanced diploma so I went through the trigonometry and all the hard, very hard classes. And I got a scholarship to XXXX in XX City for two years. So. I'm going to go for Biology because I want to transfer to XXX to be an optometrist. And they moved my scholarship back till January so I can have the baby and take care of it for a few months and then January, hit the ground running for school.

The decision. Many changes in the lives of the participants in the study hinged on one major decision. The decision to keep the baby and not abort or give the baby up for adoption was also often a significant source of stress for the teen and her family. All 11 participants in this study had chosen to keep their baby. This was coincidental and not part of the study design. Some of the teens were pressured to get an abortion or give the baby up for adoption by their family:

Well when I found out I was pregnant it was a shock which was a shock to me cauz I didn't want to be pregnant, especially not this age and time. Cauz I didn't know what I was going to do, who was going to help me or nothing. Where the money was going to come from, didn't think about a baby. And I was so scared to tell my grandmother. I was like oh my gosh, she's going to kill me. She's going to kick me out. She's going to do this, she's going to do that. And when I told her, she wanted me to have a abortion. She was like I'll pay for it, you just need to have abortion. You're not ready for this and all that. But I was scared to have abortion. And then when I went to Save a Life, they was telling me about how it can affect you in life and how some people have abortions and they can you know, it's always on their mind that they aborted a child and you know that it's not, the child didn't ask to be here, you know, and stuff like that. So then I made my decision when I heard all this bad stuff. I can't have a abortion. I can't do it. So then I thought, what about adoption? And I thought, ain't no way I can hold a baby in my stomach for 9 months and just give it away. I don't know why I feel that way but you got this inside a you, you feel her moving and everything. It just wouldn't be right to me.

Another urban teen talked about how her mother and the father of the baby had a different opinion than she did,

When I told him, they was kind of me and his mother. Cause me and his mother, we was saying keep the baby. They didn't want to keep it. It was him and my mother against me and his mother.

One of the rural participants described a very different experience when her mom found out she was pregnant, "She said that she knows I'm young but there's nothing I can do about it now, and abortion is not even gonna happen. Or adoption."

Fears and Concerns

The last major theme found in the data was the fears and concerns that the participants talked about. Being dependent on family members and having a strong desire to prove that she could take care of her responsibilities was a factor that weighed heavily on several of the teens. All of the teens appeared to have a strong sense of responsibility for their actions, and did not want to be a burden on their family. There were also concerns about being a good parent, and less frequently the health of the baby, and the delivery of the baby.

This sense of responsibility and desire to persevere was described by an urban participant:

I still have problems but I ignore the problems and I just be like I can't wait to see my baby and get my baby so I can prove everyone wrong. I want to show everyone that me and him is going to make it with or without them and I'm still gone finish school and do what I have to do just to make this baby proud. And have a good life. So now when I look at it like it's a mistake but it's a good mistake that I can learn from. And it's gone make me better and strong. So now pregnancy, when I look at it, I look at it as a blessing.

One of the suburban participants described her anxiety about having everything she needed for the baby because she had to count on a family member to provide it,

We don't have our crib yet or anything but his sister is supposed to get it. And just having all that put together and I don't want to like aggravate her about it or ask her about it all the time because she's buying it. I've got to get a breast pump. Which she's supposed to get too. Um, but that's just what worries me is if she don't get it, then I won't have it.

Other teens talked about their fear that they wouldn't be a good parent,

You thinking that you won't be the ideal parent you know. You don't want to be a bad one and you really want to be the best one you can be. And sometimes situations can make it seem like you can't be. And that just makes it hard.

One of the urban participants summed up her feelings and fears about pregnancy this way, "Just it's really hard on your body. And you know it's really hard on your heart too because you don't think you can do it, and sometimes you want to just give up. But it's not that easy."

Summary

The experience of stress during adolescent pregnancy has many facets. However, the most frequently discussed themes were relational. The response to the pregnancy by family, significant other, and friends was the predominant theme. None of the participants had planned or desired to be pregnant at this time, but all of the teens were planning to keep their baby. There were many similarities across the three geographical groups and only a few differences. The suburban group was the only group who discussed having to keep the pregnancy a secret for as long as possible, and the urban group was the only group where physical safety was a concern. There were a total of 57 different codes applied to the transcripts, resulting in 4 major themes and 12 sub-themes.

CHAPTER 5

DISCUSSION, CONCLUSION, IMPLICATIONS, AND RECOMMENDATIONS

The purpose of this study was to describe the adolescent's perception and experience of stress during pregnancy, and to illuminate which social, family, environmental, or any other experiences are deemed stressful in light of her pregnancy. Qualitative content analysis was used for the analysis of data in order to remain true to the words used by the teens in the study (Sandelowski, 2010). The 11 pregnant adolescents who participated provided data regarding their daily experiences, relevant past experiences, and future hopes and concerns that they perceived as difficult or stressful. The results of the analysis yielded four overarching themes and eleven sub-themes which will be discussed in this chapter along with conclusions, implications, limitations, and recommendations for future research.

Discussion

Stated and Perceived Responses

The teens in this study communicated that the initial and often ongoing response to the pregnancy personally and from others was often a stressful experience. Because none of the teens who participated had intended to become pregnant at this point in their life, the response was typically negative from most people in their life. However, the initial response of the significant other and friends were a common exception.

Family members, particularly parents or guardians, were often shocked, disappointed, and angry that their daughter was pregnant at such a young age. Dallas (2004) noted that the mother's of pregnant teens often felt betrayed because they had told their daughter how to avoid becoming pregnant. When these emotions did not resolve over the course of the pregnancy, family relationships remained strained, and the teen felt a lack of emotional support. An anthropological study by Lesser and colleagues (1998) found that pregnant adolescent perceived a lack of family support as well. Additionally, when the family communication and relationships were dysfunctional prior to the pregnancy, they tended to remain that way during the pregnancy, findings that replicated those of Lloyd (2004). The negative responses of family members that led to ongoing relationship struggles linked this theme of "responses" to that of "changes" when there was a change in the characterization of the relationship due to the pregnancy.

There were, however, cases of families who rallied behind their teen to support her during this time bringing the family closer together. Cervera (1994) noted that family support was a common finding in the limited literature regarding family response to adolescent pregnancy, but that each family had a unique individual response that should be considered. Parsons (2003) succinctly stated, "Ultimately the health of the family determines how a crisis is resolved." For all of the teens in this study, adolescent pregnancy was viewed as a crisis.

The significant other or father of the baby was typically supportive when the teen told him she was pregnant. There were only three cases where the pregnant teen was no longer involved with the father of the baby, and two cases where he was questioning the paternity of the baby. When the father of the baby was no longer a romantic partner, he

tended to be a source of stress, especially in the cases where he was questioning paternity. There were other reasons for stress regarding the significant other, which included worry over where he was getting income without a job, concern that he might be involved in illegal activities, and quarrels which the teen often attributed to her own moodiness. There is very little literature regarding the maternal perception of paternal support in pregnant adolescents. However, Herzog and colleagues (2007) found that adolescent mothers were more satisfied with adolescent fathers involvement when they remained romantically involved and were a source of financial support.

The findings related to friends were mixed. Many of the teens still had at least a few supportive friends, but all of the teens had experienced some loss of friendships due to the pregnancy. The teens in the urban group tended to express that their friends were more supportive than teens in the rural and suburban groups. This finding is similar to those of Geronimus (2003) who found that adolescent pregnancy was often easily accepted and even beneficial in low-income urban environments.

Often though, an eventual loss of friends was attributed to a change in priorities that differed from the teen's friends, and at other times it was perceived to be due to a judgmental attitude regarding the pregnancy. The teens all alluded to an experience of learning who their true friends were after their pregnancy became known. In her focus groups, Herrman (2008) similarly found that teen parents and non-parenting teens agreed that teen pregnancy and parenting negatively impacted friendships.

A sense of public judgment was also a common finding related by teens in all three groups, which led to a sense of indignation or embarrassment. The teens perceived that others were talking about them out in public, at school, church, or even out shopping.

This perception prevented a few of the teens from attending church and at least one from continuing to look for a job. Other research similarly found that pregnant, as well as non-pregnant teens perceived this negative, judgmental attitude related to adolescent pregnancy (Herrman, 2008; Rentschler, 2003; Rosengard, Pollock, Weitzen, Meers, & Phipps, 2006). SmithBattle (2013) noted that the stigma associated with adolescent pregnancy added to social isolation and created barriers for pregnant and parenting teens.

The ongoing response to the pregnancy by the teen's friends and the perception of judgment in public linked the theme of "responses" to the theme of "changes" because these responses often led to the teen becoming socially isolated. Social isolation was reported by many of the teens who stated that they stayed at home now that they were pregnant, but the reasons for this varied. Among the most common reasons for no longer going out with friends was a lack of spending money because they were now paying for their own expenses and saving for the baby's needs. Also, a desire to keep themselves healthy and safe motivated several of the girls to stay away from parties that they might have attended in the past where there was drinking, smoking, or drug use. The threat of physical harm from fighting at teen parties in the urban group caused some teens to stay at home because they felt they could no longer flee while pregnant. The isolation from friends who were among the most accepting of the teens' pregnancy may lead to increased stress among pregnant adolescents due to the value of social support. Devereux and colleagues (2009) found that pregnant and parenting teens with greater social support reported less stress. This is particularly important if the pregnant teen is isolated from friends and her family is not a source of support, leaving the teen feeling alone.

Looking Ahead

Preparing to care for the baby was a concern for many of the teens. Finding a job, childcare, and providing the necessities for the baby like a crib and car seat, all while trying to attend school were stressors for most of the teens. Those teens with greater family support anticipated fewer difficulties providing for their needs and those of the baby. Consequently though, these teens often described feelings of guilt because their pregnancy had burdened their family with the financial responsibilities of another child. Parenting teens in studies by Herrman (2008) and SmithBattle (2003) also reported feelings of family burden. Teens in the present study expressed a desire for independence so that they no longer burdened their family or because they did not want to have to depend on others to provide for their needs.

Considering the risk that pregnant adolescents will become high school dropouts and raise their children in poverty (CDC, 2012), the teens' comments regarding school and plans for the future are particularly salient. Many of the teens reported that they intended to complete high school and some planned to go on to complete college; however, all of them acknowledged that these goals would be far more difficult to achieve while caring for a baby. This echoed the perspectives of pregnant and parenting teens in other studies (Herrman, 2008; Lloyd, 2004; Rentschler, 2003). The teen mother's renewed motivation to succeed in school was also noted in other literature regarding pregnancy in adolescence (Herrman, 2008; Rentschler, 2003; L. SmithBattle, 2000). The focus on succeeding in school reveals that the teens desire to become independent and provide for their own child. Nonetheless, high school dropout rates continue to reflect that only 50%

of teen mothers receive a high school diploma before age 22 years CDC, 2012). The difference in attitudes and graduation statistics points to a need for intervention in this area.

Changes

All of the teens in this study decided to keep their babies, a decision which was often met with resistance and one that marked a significant change for the teens' lives. When the choice to deliver and keep the baby was supported by the teen's family she experienced less stress and turmoil. Several of the teens reported that the decision to keep the baby was made by their parents, meaning they felt they would not be allowed to have an abortion. All of these teens readily agreed with that decision and discussed moral reasons for their family's' choices. Several other teens experienced strong opposition from their parent to their desire to deliver and keep the baby and were pressured to have an abortion. Ultimately though, the teen's choice was honored due to her legal rights. The literature regarding the resolution of adolescent pregnancy reflects that family is frequently highly involved in the decision and that the decision is complex and difficult (Bender, 2008; Coleman, 2006; Spear & Lock, 2003). Other stressful changes related to pregnancy such as isolation, relationships, and future plans were discussed in relationship to their precipitating factors.

Fears and Concerns

The teens also expressed fears and concerns about being a good parent. They desired to be the best parent possible but cited barriers that might prevent them from providing the best care or spending adequate time with their baby such as attending

school and the need to work as well. Several of the teens also discussed the sacrifices that would be necessary in their personal life, like not having time of their own to spend with friends. This was also found in other literature regarding adolescent pregnancy and parenting (Herrman, 2008; Rosengard et al., 2006).

There were a small proportion of teens that also feared labor and delivery and worried that the baby would not be healthy. Anderson and McGuiness (2008) through postpartum interviews also found that adolescents feared the pain of childbirth and some even experienced it as traumatic.

Conclusions

While some of the stressors that pregnant teens experience are similar to those of adult pregnant women, there are experiences unique to pregnancy during adolescence that are experienced as stressful. Specifically, social isolation, and public judgment or stigmas were experienced by the teens in this study. Additionally, the perception of other stressors common to those experienced by pregnant adults may be appraised differently by teens due to their limited life experience, degree of family support, and ability to make mature decisions (Seiffge-Krenke et al., 2009).

The vulnerability of pregnant adolescents to a lack of support and increased demands with limited resources makes this population susceptible to the impact of stress on birth and developmental outcomes. Because the most prevalent stressors reported by the teens in this study were relational, it appears that the teens appraise relationships to be where intervention and support would be most desired. Focusing on interventions to support the adolescent's family, decrease social isolation, and empower these teens to carry

out their desires to complete their education and pursue career goals may decrease the sequelae of prenatal stress.

Implications

The findings of this study begin to bridge the gap between the limited research regarding adolescent prenatal stress and the fuller body of research linking prenatal stress to negative pregnancy outcomes in adults. Further research confirming the pathways linking stress during the prenatal period and poor birth outcomes is still needed, especially in the adolescent population. This description of stress during pregnancy from the perspective of pregnant adolescents illuminates the topics that are significant to teens, thus giving direction to further research and interventions in this area. The results of this research could be used to develop screening tools that would be valid in assessing stress in pregnant adolescents where adult stress and anxiety instruments have been previously used.

These results are important for nursing practice, as well. The perspectives of these teens can bring empathy and guidance to obstetric and public health nursing practice. By incorporating assessment of prenatal stress into the care for pregnant adolescents, nurses and other health care practitioners alike can provide guidance and support that is specific to the needs of pregnant teens in order to reduce the stress they experience during pregnancy. Feldman (2007), in a study regarding prenatal attachment among 129 minority pregnant adolescents, found that having less stress improved prenatal attachment, which in turn was linked to decreased pregnancy risks. Similarly, Macleod and Weaver (2003) also reported that teen's satisfaction with social support from friends and family during pregnancy was positively associated to attitudes regarding the baby. Research also pro-

vides evidence for practitioners to promote social and family support as a key to improving pregnancy and developmental outcomes in this population. Devereux and colleagues (2009) noted that social support was negatively associated with stress, and that prenatal social support was positively associated with support at two and six months after the baby was born. Consequently, practitioners should seek targeted ways to improve support and reduce stress for pregnant teens to impact the outcomes in this population.

In addition to social and family support, educational support is imperative in this population in order to assist the often highly motivated pregnant teen in accomplishing her academic and career goals. Nurses who are knowledgeable about the pregnant teen's educational rights and school based programs that offer academic and parenting support are able to assist her in bettering outcomes for herself and her child. SmithBattle (2007) and Mangino (2008) both found that school related support was pivotal in teen mothers' success in graduating from high school.

Limitations

The lack of Latina adolescents was a limitation in this study, specifically because the population of Latina adolescents has one of the highest adolescent birth rates in the nation (CDC, 2012). In future research, a strong effort should be made to include this group in studies regarding adolescent pregnancy.

Additionally, follow up phone calls were included in the study design if the interview data needed clarification. These phone calls were not implemented for any of the participants because the principal investigator did not deem it necessary at the time. The

use of follow up phone calls may be helpful in further research with pregnant adolescents to follow the teens through their pregnancy and to assess birth outcomes.

The nature of qualitative interviewing makes it necessary to assume that any information communicated by the participants is true and accurately reflects the life and perception of the participant. During one of the interviews included in this study the participant communicated information about her volunteer work that did not seem possible, calling the validity of the rest of her interview into question. A decision was made to include the interview in the study because of the philosophical stance of qualitative inquiry, which assumes that the experience of the participant is subjective.

Strengths

Qualitative interviews revealed descriptions from the perspective of the teen that richly described their experiences in a way that is unlikely with other research methods. The geographic and socioeconomic backgrounds of the teens in this study were varied and included teens from impoverished to affluent segments of society. The varied nature of the teens socioeconomic and geographic groups, revealed surprisingly similar findings.

Recommendations

The results of this study point to the need for further research, as well as a consideration of a change in nursing practice. First, additional research is needed to confirm the biological linkages between psychosocial stress and poor birth and developmental outcomes in the adolescent population. Second, screening for stress during the prenatal period would be helpful in determining which teens were most at risk and would benefit from

intervention. Third, facilitating family and social support for pregnant teens would be impactful for both the teen and her child because of the positive impact of social support on stress. Finally, further academic support for pregnant adolescents is indicated because of their reported high levels of motivation, but low levels of graduation.

In summary, pregnant adolescents experience stress that is different from pregnant adults and would benefit from interventions that target relational and academic needs in order to reduce the stress that they frequently reported. This reduction in psychosocial stress in the lives of pregnant adolescents may reduce the negative outcomes currently associated with adolescent pregnancy and birth.

LIST OF REFERENCES

- Anderson, C., & McGuinness, T. M. (2008). Do teenage mothers experience childbirth as traumatic? *Journal of Psychosocial Nursing & Mental Health Services*, 46(4), 21-24.
- Barker, D. J. P. (2007). The origins of the developmental origins theory. *Journal of Internal Medicine*, 261(5), 412-417.
- Bartell, S. S. (2005). Family focus. Teen pregnancy: the impact on a family system. *International Journal of Childbirth Education*, 20(2), 19-21.
- Bay, E. J., & Algase, D. L. (1999). Fear and anxiety: a simultaneous concept analysis. *Nursing Diagnosis*, 10(3), 103-112.
- Bender, S. S. (2008). Three cases of adolescent childbearing decision-making: The importance of ambivalence. *Adolescence*, 43(172), 861-879.
- Bengston, V., Acock, A., Allen, K., Dilworth-Anderson, P., & Klein, D. (Eds.). (2005). Sourcebook of Family Theory and Research. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Berkowitz, G. S., Wolff, M. S., Janevic, T. M., Holzman, I. R., Yehuda, R., & Landrigan, P. J. (2003). The World Trade Center Disaster and Intrauterine Growth Restriction. *JAMA*, 290(5), 595-a-596. doi: 10.1001/jama.290.5.595-b
- Black, B. P., Holditch-Davis, D., & Miles, M. S. (2009). Life course theory as a framework to examine becoming a mother of a medically fragile preterm infant. *Research in Nursing & Health*, *32*(1), 38-49.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2009). Preventing Teen Pregnancy: An Update in 2009. Retrieved February 6, 2010, from http://www.cdc.gov/reproductivehealth/AdolescentReproHealth/AboutTP.htm
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2010). Teen birth rates: How does the United States compare? Retrieved October 3, 2013, from http://www.thenationalcampaign.org/resources/pdf/TBR_InternationalComparison.pdf
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2012). About teen pregnancy Retrieved April 26, 2013, from http://www.cdc.gov/TeenPregnancy/AboutTeenPreg.htm

- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, & Health Resources and Services Administration. (n.d.). Progress toward healthy people 2010 targets Retrieved February 6, 2010, from http://www.healthypeople.gov/data/midcourse/pdf/FA16.pdf
- Cervera, N. (1994). Family change during an unwed teenage pregnancy. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 23(1).
- Coleman, P. (2006). Resolution of unwanted pregnancy during adolescence through abortion versus childbirth: Individual and family predictors and psychological consequences. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, *35*, 903-911. doi: 10.1007/s10964-006-9094-x
- Coussons-Read, M. E., Okun, M. L., Schmitt, M. P., & Giese, S. (2005). Prenatal stress alters cytokine levels in a manner that may endanger human pregnancy. *Psychosom Med*, 67(4), 625-631. doi: 67/4/625 [pii]10.1097/01.psy.00 00170331.74960.ad
- Dallas, C. (2004). Family matters: how mothers of adolescent parents experience adolescent pregnancy and parenting. *Public Health Nursing*, 21(4), 347-353.
- Dashiff, C., DiMicco, W., Myers, B., & Sheppard, K. (2009). Poverty and adolescent mental health. *Journal of Child & Adolescent Psychiatric Nursing*, 22(1), 23-32.
- Davies, S. L., DiClemente, R. J., Wingood, G. M., Harrington, K. F., Crosby, R. A., & Sionean, C. (2003). Pregnancy desire among disadvantaged African American adolescent females. *American Journal of Health Behavior*, 27(1), 55-62.
- Davis, E. P., & Sandman, C. A. (2006). Prenatal exposure to stress and stress hormones influences child development. *Infants & Young Children: An Interdisciplinary Journal of Special Care Practices*, 19(3), 246-259.
- Dayan, J., Creveuil, C., Marks, M. N., Conroy, S., Herlicoviez, M., Dreyfus, M., et al. (2006). Prenatal depression, prenatalanxiety, and spontaneous preterm birth: A prospective cohort study among women with early and regular care. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 68(6), 938-946. doi: 10.1097/01.psy.0000244025.20549.bd
- Devereux, P., Weigel, D., Ballard-Reisch, D., Leigh, G., & Cahoon, K. (2009). Immediate and longer-term connections between support and stress in pregnant/parenting and non-pregnant/non-parenting adolescents. *Child & Adolescent Social Work Journal*, 26(5), 431-446.
- DiPietro, J. A., Novak, M. F., Costigan, K. A., Atella, L. D., & Reusing, S. P. (2006). Maternal psychological distress during pregnancy in relation to child development at age two. *Child Dev*, 77(3), 573-587. doi: CDEV891 [pii]10.1111/j.1467-8624.2006.00891.x

- Drake, P. (1996). Addressing Developmental Needs of Pregnant Adolescents. *Journal of Obstetric, Gynecologic, & Neonatal Nursing*, 25(6), 518-524. doi: 10.1111/j.1552-6909.1996.tb01473.x
- Erkut, S., Szalacha, L. A., & Coll, C. G. (2005). A framework for studying minority youths' transition to fatherhood: The case of Puerto Rican adolescents. *Adolescence*, 40(160), 709-727.
- Eskenazi, B., Marks, A. R., Catalano, R., Bruckner, T., & Toniolo, P. G. (2007). Low birthweight in New York city and upstate New York following the events of September 11th. *Human Reproduction*, 22(11), 3013-3020. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dem301
- Feldman, J. B. (2007). The effect of support expectations on prenatal attachment: An evidenced-based approach for intervention in an adolescent population. *Child & Adolescent Social Work Journal*, 24(3), 209-234. doi: 10.1007/s10560-007-0082-0
- Fine, A., & Kotelchuck, M. (2010). *Rethinking MCH: The Life Course Model as an Organizing Framework*. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Health Resources and Services Administration, Maternal Child Health Bureau.
- Geronimus, A. T. (2003). Damned if you do: culture, identity, privilege, and teenage childbearing in the United States. *Social Science & Medicine*, *57*(5), 881-893. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0277-9536(02)00456-2
- Glynn, L. M., Schetter, C. D., Hobel, C. J., & Sandman, C. A. (2008). Pattern of perceived stress and anxiety in pregnancy predicts preterm birth. *Health Psychology*, 27, 43-51. doi:10.1037/0278-6133.27.1.43
- Hamilton, B. E., Martin, J. A., & Ventura, S. J. (2010). Births: Preliminary data for 2009 *National vital statistics reports* (Vol. 59). Hyattsville, MD: National Center for Health Statistics.
- Hamilton, B. E., & Ventura, S. J. (2012). NCHS Data Brief Retrieved October 3, 2013, 2013, from http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/databriefs/db89.htm
- Heavey, E. J., Moysich, K. B., Hyland, A., Druschel, C. M., & Sill, M. W. Differences in Pregnancy Desire Among Pregnant Female Adolescents at a State-Funded Family Planning Clinic. *Journal of Midwifery & Momen's Health*, 53(2), 130-137. doi: 10.1016/j.jmwh.2007.09.005
- Herrman, J. W. (2008). Adolescent perceptions of teen births. *Journal of Obstetric, Gynecologic & Neonatal Nursing*, *37*(1), 42-50. doi: 10.1111/j.1552-6909.2007.00201.x

- Herzog, M. J., Umaña-Taylor, A. J., Madden-Derdich, D. A., & Leonard, S. A. (2007). Adolescent Mothers' Perceptions of Fathers' Parental Involvement: Satisfaction and Desire for Involvement. *Family Relations*, 56(3), 244-257.
- Hobel, C. J., Goldstein, A., & Barrett, E. S. (2008). Psychosocial stress and pregnancy outcome. *Clinical Obstetrics and Gynecology*, *51*, 333-348.
- Hollingshead, A. B. (1975). *A Four-Factor Index of Social Status* Department of Sociology, Yale University. New Haven, CT.
- Kaye, D. K. (2008). Negotioating the transition from adolescence to motherhood: Coping with prenatal and parenting stress in teenage mothers in Mulago hospital, Uganda. *Biomed Central Public Health*, 8(83), 1-6. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-8-83
- Keenan, K., Sheffield, R., & Boeldt, D. (2007). Are prenatal psychological or physical stressors associated with suboptimal outcomes in neonates born to adolescent mothers? *Early Human Development*, 83(9), 623-627. DOI: 10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2007.01.002
- Keenan, K., Sheffield, R., & Boeldt, D. (2007). Are prenatal psychological or physical stressors associated with suboptimal outcomes in neonates born to adolescent mothers? *Early Human Development*, 83, 623-627. doi: 10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2007.01.002
- Kotelchuck, M. (2003). Editorial: Building on a Life-Course Perspective in Maternal and Child Health. [10.1023/A:1022585400130]. *Maternal and Child Health Journal*, 7(1), 5-11.
- Landrigan, P. J., Forman, J., Galvez, M., Newman, B., Engel, S. M., & Chemtob, C. (2008). Impact of September 11 World Trade Center Disaster on Children and Pregnant Women. [Article]. *Mount Sinai Journal of Medicine*, 75(2), 129-134. doi: 10.1002/msj.20032
- LaRue, D. E., & Herrman, J. W. (2008). Adolescent stress through the eyes of high-risk teens. *Pediatric Nursing*, 34(5), 375-380.
- Latendresse, G. (2009). The interaction between chronic stress and pregnancy: Preterm birth from a biobehavioral perspective. *Journal of Midwifery Women's Health*, 54(1), 8-17. doi:10.1016/j.jmwh.2008.08.001
- Lazarus, R. S. (1993). Coping theory and research: past, present, and future. *Psychosom Med*, 55(3), 234-247.
- Lazarus, R. S., & Folkman, S. (1984). *Stress, appraisal, and coping*. New York: Springer.

- Lesser, J., Anderson, N., & Koniak-Griffin, D. (1998). "Sometimes you don't feel ready to be an adult or a mom." The experience of adolescent pregnancy. *Journal of Child and Adolescent Psychiatric Nursing*, 11(1), 7-16.
- Lloyd, S. L. (2004). Pregnant adolescent reflections of parental communication. *Journal of Community Health Nursing*, 21(4), 239-251.
- Lu, M., Kotelchuck, M., Hogan, V., Jones, L., Wright, K., & Halfon, N. (2010). Closing the black-white gap in birth outcomes: A life course approach. *Ethnicity and Disease*, 20, s2-62-s62-76.
- Lu, M. C., & Halfon, N. (2003). Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Birth Outcomes: A Life-Course Perspective. [10.1023/A:1022537516969]. *Maternal and Child Health Journal*, 7(1), 13-30.
- Macleod, A. J., & Weaver, S. M. (2003). Teenage pregnancy: attitudes, social support and adjustment to pregnancy during the antenatal period. *Journal of Reproductive & Infant Psychology*, 21(1), 49-59.
- Macmillan, R., & Copher, R. (2005). Families in the Life Course: Interdependency of Roles, Role Configurations, and Pathways. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 67(4), 858-879.
- Mangino, J. G. (2008). *Voices of teen mothers: Their challenges, support systems, and successes.* Doctoral dissertation, University of Pittsburgh.
- Matthews, T. J., Sutton, P. D., Hamilton, B. E., & Ventura, S. J. (2010). State disparities in teenage birth rates in the United States *NCHS data brief, no. 46*. Hyattsville, MD: National Center for Health Statistics.
- McEwen, B. (2000). Allostasis and allostatic load: Implications for neuropsychopharmacology. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 22, 108-124.
- Meadows, S. O., Brown, J. S., & Jr., G. H. E. (2006). Depressive symptoms, stress, and support: Gendered trajectories from adolescence to young adulthood. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 35(1), 93-103. doi:10.1007/s10964-005-9021-6
- Melnyk, B. M., & Feinstein, N. F. (2009). Reducing hospital expenditures with the COPE (Creating Opportunities for Parent Empowerment) program for parents and premature infants: an analysis of direct healthcare neonatal intensive care unit costs and savings. *Nursing Administration Quarterly*, *33*(1), 32-37. doi: 10.1097/01.NAQ.0000343346.47795.1300006216-200901000-00008 [pii]
- Miles, M. B., & Huberman, A. M. (1994a). Concluding remarks *Qualitative data* analysis: An expanded sourcebook (2nd ed., pp. 307-310). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.

- Miles, M. B., & Huberman, A. M. (1994b). Introduction *Qualitative data analysis: An expanded sourcebook* (2nd ed., pp. 1-12). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Mitsuhiro, S. S., Chalem, E., Moraes Barros, M. C., Guinsburg, R., & Laranjeira, R. (2009). Brief report: Prevalence of psychiatric disorders in pregnant teenagers. *Journal of Adolescence*, 32(3), 747-752. doi: 10.1016/j.adolescence.2008.12.001
- Morse, J. M. (2007). Strategies of intraproject sampling. In P. L. Munhall (Ed.), *Nursing research: A qualitative perspective* (4th ed., pp. 529-539). Sudbury, MA: Jones and Bartlett Publishers.
- Motzer, S., & Hertig, V. (2004). Stress, stress response, and health. *the Nursing Clinics of North America*, 39, 1-17. doi: doi:10.1016/j.cnur.2003.00.001
- Mulder, E. J., Robles de Medina, P. G., Huizink, A. C., Van den Bergh, B. R., Buitelaar, J. K., & Visser, G. H. (2002). Prenatal maternal stress: effects on pregnancy and the (unborn) child. *Early Hum Dev*, 70(1-2), 3-14. doi: S0378378202000750 [pii]
- Nusbaum, R., Grubs, R., Losee, J., Weidman, C., Ford, M., & Marazita, M. (2008). A Qualitative Description of Receiving a Diagnosis of Clefting in the Prenatal or Postnatal Period. *Journal of Genetic Counseling*, *17*(4), 336-350. doi: 10.1007/s10897-008-9152-5
- O'Connor, T. G., Heron, J., & Glover, V. (2002). Antenatal anxiety predicts child behavioral/emotional problems independently of postnatal depression. *Journal of American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 41(12), 1470-1477.
- Parsons, C. (2003). Caring for adolescents and families in crisis. *Nursing Clinics of North America*, 38, 111-122. doi: 10.1016/s0029-6465(02)00071-3
- Pazol, K., Warner, L., Gavin, L., Callaghan, W. M., Anderson, J. E., Barfield, W. D., et al. (2011). Vital signs: Teen pregnancy--United States, 1991-2009. *Morbidity and mortality weekly report* Retrieved September 15, 2011, 2011, from http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/mm6013a5.htm?s
- Petersen, A. C., & Leffert, N. (1995). Developmental Issues Influencing Guidelines for Adolescent Health Research: A Review. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, *17*(5), 298-305. doi: Doi: 10.1016/1054-139x(95)00184-t
- Phipps, M. G., Rosengard, C., Weitzen, S., Meers, A., & Billinkoff, Z. (2008). Age Group Differences among Pregnant Adolescents: Sexual Behavior, Health Habits and Contraceptive Use. *Journal of Pediatric and Adolescent Gynecology* 21(1). doi: DOI: 10.1016/j.jpag.2007.07.009
- Phipps, M. G., & Sowers, M. (2002). Defining Early Adolescent Childbearing. *Am J Public Health*, 92(1), 125-128. doi: 10.2105/ajph.92.1.125

- Polit, D. F., & Beck, C. T. (2008). *Nursing research: Generating and assessing evidence for nursing practice* (8th ed.). Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott Williams, & Williams.
- Rentschler, D. (2003). Pregnant adolescents' perspectives of pregnancy. *American Journal of Maternal Child Nursing*, 28(6), 377-383.
- Rocca, C. H., Doherty, I., Padian, N. S., Hubbard, A. E., & Minnis, A. M. (2010). Pregnancy Intentions and Teenage Pregnancy Among Latinas: A Mediation Analysis. *Perspectives on Sexual & Reproductive Health*, 42(3), 186-196. doi: 10.1363/4218610
- Rosengard, C., Pollock, L., Weitzen, S., Meers, A., & Phipps, M. (2006). Concepts of the Advantages and Dsadvantages of Teenage Childbearing Among Pregnant Adolescents: A Qualitative Analysis. *Pediatrics*, 118(2), 503-510. doi: 10.1542/peds.2005-3058
- Ruiz, R. J., & Avant, K. C. (2005). Effects of maternal prenatal stress on infant outcomes: a synthesis of the literature. *Advance Nursing Science*, 28(4), 345-355. doi: 00012272-200510000-00006 [pii]
- Sandelowski, M. (1995). Focus on qualitative methods: Sample size in qualitative research. *Research in Nursing & Health*, 18, 179-183.
- Sandelowski, M. (2000). Focus on Research Methods: Whatever Happened to Qualitative Description. *Research in Nursing and Health*, 23, 334-340.
- Sandelowski, M. (2010). What's in a name? Qualitative description revisited. *Research in Nursing & Health*, 33(1), 77-84. doi: 10.1002/nur.20362
- Schoon, I., Bynner, J., Joshi, H., Parsons, S., Wiggins, R. D., & Sacker, A. (2002). The influence of context, timing, and duration of risk experiences for the passage from childhood to midadulthood. *Child Development*, 73(5), 1486-1504.
- Seiffge-Krenke, I. (2000). Causal links between stressful events, coping style, and adolescent symptomatology. *Journal of Adolescence*, 23(6), 675-691. doi: DOI: 10.1006/jado.2000.0352
- Seiffge-Krenke, I., Aunola, K., & Nurmi, J. E. (2009). Changes in stress perception and coping during adolescence: the role of situational and personal factors. *Child Development*, 80(1), 259-279.
- Singh, S., & Darroch, J. E. (2000). Adolescent pregnancy and childbearing: Levels and trends in developed countries. *Family Planning Perspectives*, 32(1), 14.
- SmithBattle, L. (2000). The vulnerabilities of teenage mothers: challenging prevailing assumptions [corrected] [published erratum appears in ANS 2000 Dec; 23(2): vi]. *Advances in Nursing Science*, 23(1), 29-40.

- SmithBattle, L. (2003). Displacing the "rule book" in caring for teen mothers. *Public Health Nursing*, 20(5), 369-376.
- Smithbattle, L. (2007). Legacies of advantage and disadvantage: the case of teen mothers. *Public Health Nurs*, 24(5), 409-420. doi: PHN651 [pii]10.1111/j.1525-1446.2007.00651.x
- Smithbattle, L. (2013). Reducing the Stigmatization of Teen Mothers. *The American Journal of Maternal Child Nursing*. doi: 10.1097/NMC.0b013e3182836bd4
- Spear, H. J., & Lock, S. (2003). Qualitative research on adolescent pregnancy: a descriptive review and analysis. *Journal of Pediatric Nursing*, 18(6), 397-408. doi: 10.1016/s0882-5963(03)00160-x
- Thorne, S., Kirkham, S. E., & MacDonald-Emes, J. (1997). Interpretive description: A noncategorical qualitative alternative for developing nursing knowledge. *Research in Nursing & Health*, 20, 169-177.
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, National institutes of Health, & National Institute of Nursing Research. (2006). *NINR strategic plan: Changing practice, changing lives*. (NIH Publication No. 06-4832). National Institutes of Health Retrieved from http://www.ninr.nih.gov/NR/rdonlyres/9021E5EB-B2BA-47EA-B5DB-1E4DB11B1289/4894/NINR_StrategicPlanWebsite.pdf.
- Wadsworth, M. E., & Berger, L. E. (2006). Adolescents coping with poverty related family stress: Prospective predictors of coping and psychological symptoms. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 35(1), 57-70. doi: doi:10.1007/s10964-005-9022-5
- White, J. M., & Klein, D. M. (2008). *Family theories* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Xiong, X., Harville, E., Mattison, D., Elkind-Hirsch, K., & Pridjian, G. B., P. (2008). Exposure to Hurricane Katrina: Post-traumatic stress disorder and birth outcomes. *American Journal of the Medical Sciences*, *336*(2), 111-115. doi: 10.1097/MAJ.0b013e318180f21c

APPENDIX A

INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD APPROVAL FORMS



Institutional Review Board for Human Use

Form 4: IRB Approval Form Identification and Certification of Research Projects Involving Human Subjects

UAB's Institutional Review Boards for Human Use (IRBs) have an approved Federalwide Assurance with the Office for Human Research Protections (OHRP). The Assurance number is FWA00005960 and it expires on January 24, 2017. The UAB IRBs are also in compliance with 21 CFR Parts 50 and 56.

Principal Investigato	r: KNJGHT, CANDACE C	
Co-Investigator(s):		
Protocol Number:	X120129008	•
Protocol Title:	Adolescent Prenatal Stress	
This project received	review as provided in that Assur EXPEDITED review.	rance.
IRB Approval Date:	2-12-12	
Date IRB Approval Is	sued:_/2-12-12_	Marien Dass
		Marilyn Doss, M.A.

Investigators please note:

The IRB approved consent form used in the study must contain the IRB approval date and expiration date.

IRB approval is given for one year unless otherwise noted. For projects subject to annual review research activities may not continue past the one year anniversary of the IRB approval date.

Any modifications in the study methodology, protocol and/or consent form must be submitted for review and approval to the IRB prior to implementation.

Adverse Events and/or unanticipated risks to subjects or others at UAB or other participating institutions must be reported promptly to the IRB.

470 Administration Building 701 20th Street South 205,934,3789 Fax 205,934,1301 irb@uab.edu The University of Alabama at Birmingham Mailing Address: AB 470 1530 3RD AVE S BIRMINGHAM AL 35284-0104

Vice Chair of the Institutional Review Board for Human Use (IRB)



Institutional Review Board for Human Use

Form 4: IRB Approval Form Identification and Certification of Research Projects Involving Human Subjects

UAB's Institutional Review Boards for Human Use (IRBs) have an approved Federalwide Assurance with the Office for Human Research Protections (OHRP). The Assurance number is FWA00005960 and it expires on January 24, 2017. The UAB IRBs are also in compliance with 21 CFR Parts 50 and 56.

Principal Investigator: KNIGHT, CANDACE C

Co-Investigator(s):

Protocol Number:

X120129008

Protocol Title:

Adolescent Prenatal Stress

The IRB reviewed and approved the above named project on 2-2-1-2. The review was conducted in accordance with UAB's Assurance of Compliance approved by the Department of Health and Human Services. This Project will be subject to Annual continuing review as provided in that Assurance.

This project received EXPEDITED review.

IRB Approval Date: 2-2/-/ Z__

Date IRB Approval Issued: スーター1ス

Marilyn Doss, M.A.

Marilan ()

Vice Chair of the Institutional Review Board for Human Use (IRB)

Investigators please note:

The IRB approved consent form used in the study must contain the IRB approval date and expiration date.

IRB approval is given for one year unless otherwise noted. For projects subject to annual review research activities may not continue past the one year anniversary of the IRB approval date.

Any modifications in the study methodology, protocol and/or consent form must be submitted for review and approval to the IRB prior to implementation.

Adverse Events and/or unanticipated risks to subjects or others at UAB or other participating institutions must be reported promptly to the IRB.

470 Administration Building 701 20th Street South 205.934.3789 Fax 205.934.1301 Irb@uab.edu The University of Alabama at Birmingham Malling Address: AB 470 1530 SRD AVE S BIRMINGHAM AL 35294-0104

Informed Consent Document

TITLE OF RESEARCH: Adolescent Prenatal Stress

IRB PROTOCOL: X120129008

INVESTIGATOR: Candace Knight

SPONSOR: University of Alabama at Birmingham School of Nursing

Department of Family/Child Health and Caregiving

Explanation of Procedures

I am asking you to take part in a research study. The purpose of this research study is to find out what teenagers who are pregnant think is stressful so that I can find ways to help reduce stress for pregnant teens in the future. There are no experimental procedures in this research study.

I would like for you to consider talking with me about your experience since you have been pregnant. If you agree to participate, you will take part in a private interview with me to talk about things that you might consider to be stressful like family, friends, school, the father of your baby, money, or other things you feel are difficult since you have been pregnant. I will also ask you about what school you attend, who lives with you, your parent's education and job, and your ethnicity. You may refuse to answer any of the questions at any time. The interview will be audio taped and will take about an hour to an hour and a half of your time. I can come to your home to do the interview, or you can choose to do the interview in the clinic where you see your doctor. It may be necessary for me to call you on the phone after our interview to clarify what you told me, but this may not be needed in all cases. This follow up interview will take approximately 20 minutes. There will be a total of 15 young women enrolled in the study.

Risks and Discomforts

It is possible that you might become upset during the interview as we talk about topics that are difficult for you. If this happens, we can stop the interview until you are no longer upset or stop the interview completely. If needed, I will refer you to someone to help you cope with these feelings. It is also possible that you might become tired of sitting during the interview. If this happens, we can pause the interview while you get up and walk around and stretch. When you feel ready, we can start the interview again. There is also a small potential risk for loss of confidentiality if someone other than the participant inadvertently saw an email sent to set up the interview.

	UAB IRB
	Date of Approval 2-31-12 Participant's Inititals
	Not Valid On 2-21-13

Information for Women of Childbearing Potential

Other research has linked stress during pregnancy to low birth weight infants and premature delivery of infants. If you think that talking about things that are difficult in your life may cause you stress then you may not want to participate.

Benefits

You may not personally benefit from your participation in this research. However, your participation may help to find ways to support pregnant teens in the future.

Alternatives

Your alternative is to not participate.

Confidentiality

Information obtained about you for this study will be kept confidential to the extent allowed by law. However, research information that identifies you may be shared with the UAB Institutional Review Board (IRB) and others who are responsible for ensuring compliance with laws and regulations related to research, including people on behalf of the UAB School of Nursing and the Office for Human Research Protections (OHRP). The results of the study may be published for scientific purposes. However, your identity will not be given out. If you choose to do the interview in your home, there is a risk that others who live in your home may inadvertently discover that you are pregnant if they did not already know which would compromise your confidentiality.

Refusal or Withdrawal Without Penalty

Whether or not you take part in this study is your choice. There will be no penalty if you decide not to be in the study. If you decide not to be in the study, you will not lose any benefits you are otherwise owed. You are free to withdraw from this research study at any time. Your choice to leave the study will not affect your relationship with this institution or the clinic which referred you to the study.

You may withdraw your consent at any time by deciding not to answer questions without explanation or by calling Candace Knight at the number listed on the last page of this form.

Cost of Participation

There is no cost to you for taking part in this study except for the time it takes to complete the interview.

age 2 of 4	
ersion Date: 2/16/12	Participant's inititals

Payment for Participation in Research

You will be paid \$10 in cash at the time the interview is complete. If you withdraw from the study in the middle of the interview you will be paid the entire \$10 for the partial information you have provided and at the same time be withdrawn from the study.

Questions

If you have any questions, concerns, or complaints about the research, please contact Candace Knight. She will be glad to answer any of your questions. Candace Knight's number is 205-996-7625. Candace Knight may also be reached after hours at 205 566-7734.

If you have questions about your rights as a research participant, or concerns or complaints about the research, you may contact the Office of the IRB (OIRB) at (205) 934-3789 or 1-800-822-8816. If calling the toll-free number, press the option for "all other calls" or for an operator/attendant and ask for extension 4-3789. Regular hours for the OIRB are 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. CT, Monday through Friday. You may also call this number in the event the research staff cannot be reached or you wish to talk to someone else.

Legal Rights

You are not waiving any of your legal rights by signing this informed consent document.

Signatures									
Your signature below indicates that you agre receive a signed copy of this document.	e to participate in this study. You will								
Signature of Participant	Date								
Signature of Investigator	Date								

Page 3 of 4

Version Date: 2/16/12

University of Alabama at Birmingham AUTHORIZATION FOR USE/DISCLOSURE OF HEALTH INFORMATION FOR RESEARCH

What is the purpose of this form? You are being asked your health information for research. Participation in reresearch, you must sign this form so that your health in	esearch is voluntary. If you choose to participate in the
Participant name: Research Protocol: <u>Adolescent Prenatal Stress</u>	UAB IRB Protocol Number: X120129008 Principal Investigator: <u>Candace Knight</u> Sponsor: <u>University of Alabama at Birmingham</u> School of Nursing
What health information do the researchers want to u including past, present, and future history, examination treatments of whatever kind related to or collected for	se? All medical information and personal identifiers, s, laboratory results, imaging studies and reports and
Why do the researchers want my health information? as part of the research protocol listed above and describe	
Who will disclose, use and/or receive my health inform the research protocol (whether at UAB or elsewhere); o Children's Hospital of Alabama, Callahan Eye Foundatio Public Health, as necessary for their operations; the IRB employees; and outside regulatory agencies, such as the	ther operating units of UAB, HSF, UAB Highlands, The n Hospital and the Jefferson County Department of and its staff; the sponsor of the research and its
How will my health information be protected once it is given to the study sponsor will remain private to the ex- required to follow the federal privacy laws. However, o that are not required to follow federal privacy laws, we protected.	tent possible, even though the study sponsor is not nce your information is given to other organizations
How long will this Authorization last? Your authorizat Authorization does not have an expiration date.	tion for the uses and disclosures described in this
Can I cancel the Authorization? You may cancel this Au the IRB, in writing, referencing the Research Protocol ar Authorization, the study doctor and staff will not use an researchers may continue to use the health information authorization.	nd IRB Protocol Number. If you cancel this by new health information for research. However,
Can I see my health information? You have a right to a ensure the scientific integrity of the research, you will n after the research protocol has been completed.	
Signature of participant: or participant's legally authorized representative: Printed Name of participant's representative: Relationship to the participant:	·····
Page 4 of 4 Version Date: 2/16/12	



Rowell S. Ashford, II, MD Annie McCartney, CRNP

Emily Bell, MD Yocunda Clayton, MD

To whom it may concern:

This letter is to inform you that I have granted my permission for Candace Knight, RN to recruit participants for her dissertation project, "adolescent prenatal stress", from my obstetric clinic in Ensley, Alabama. The address and contact information are included above. I have discussed the details of the proposed study with Candace, and I am comfortable with the study protocol.

Sincerely,

Rowell Ashford, M.D.

1925 Avenue E • Birmingham, Al. 35218 Phone: (205) 788-5164 • Fax (205) 788-5167

March 7, 2012

Jack B. Freeman, M.D.
John M. Morgan, M.D.
William E. Somerall, Jr. M.D.
Heidi K. Straughn, M.D.
Brookwood Women's Health, P.C.
2006 Brookwood Medical Center Drive
Suite 202, Women's Medical Plaza
Birmingham, AL 35209
(205) 397-8850

To whom it may concern:

This letter is to inform you that I have granted my permission for Candace Knight, RN to recruit participants for her dissertation project, "adolescent prenatal stress", from my obstetric clinic in Birmingham, Alabama. The address and contact information are included above. I have discussed the details of the proposed study with Candace, and I am comfortable with the study protocol.

Jack B. Freeman, M.D.

Date

John M. Morgan M.D.

Date

William E. Somerall, Jr. M.D.

Date

Heidi K. Straughn M.D Date



Pell City High School 1300 Cogswell Avenue Pell City, Alabama 35125

Phone (205) 338-2250

Helenc Bettinger Principal

June 19, 2012

To Whom It May Concern:

Candace Knight will be conducting research with some of our current and previous students for her doctorate dissertation. All students and parents of students will be given the opportunity to decline participation. However, if permission is given, our students will be interviewed here at our high school

We are interested to see the results of this research and feel it could only be beneficial for our school. Thank you for this opportunity. We look forward to working with Candace and UAB.

Helene Bettinger

APPENDIX B

POSSIBLE INTERVIEW QUESTIONS/TOPICS

Possible Interview Questions/Topics

- 1. How are things going with your pregnancy?
- 2. How did you find out you were pregnant?
- 3. How did you feel about being pregnant initially/now?
- 4. How did the people in your life react to the news of your pregnancy?
- 5. Has being pregnant made anything difficult for you?
- 6. How has your life changed since you've known you were pregnant?
- 7. Has the pregnancy changed anything for you in the future?
- 8. Do you have the financial support that you need?
- 9. Is school different now that you're pregnant?
- 10. Do you have any other concerns?
- 11. If you were involved in religious institutions/activity prior to pregnancy, has that changed since you've been pregnant?
- 12. How is your relationship with the father of the baby?
- 13. How is your relationship with your family?
- 14. Do you spend time with peers like you did before you became pregnant?

*These questions are not all inclusive, but a general guide to cover topics brought out in the review of literature and the theoretical framework. Questions may change slightly after initial interviews and analysis of data.

APPENDIX C RECRUITMENT FLYER

Are You Pregnant and 15-19 Years Old?



A research study is being conducted on the topic of stress and pregnancy. Pregnant young women are needed for interviews about stress. Interviews will take place in your home, clinic, or location of your choice. Interviews will last approximately 1-2 hours and participants will receive \$20 for the interview.

If you are interested please call Candace Knight, RN

UAB School of Nursing

(205) 566-7734

APPENDIX D CODING LEGEND AND TABLE

CODEBOOK

- PER RESP: Personal response to the pregnancy, how does teen react to the pregnancy initially and after having time to cope – "shocked" "I didn't believe it" "wasn't disappointed"
- 2. SO RESP: Response of the significant other to the pregnancy- "he wasn't mad or upset, he was happy"
- 3. FAM DYN: Family dynamics, influence of family history on present response and perception of pregnancy "she (twin sister) had a baby when she was fifteen"
- 4. CHNG PLANS: Change of plans, things didn't go as planned
- 5. FAM RESP: Family response to the pregnancy, how it felt to tell family members about the pregnancy "It was hard" "my dad still wants me to get my diploma"
- 6. PER RESP: Personal responsibility, taking responsibility for your actions "I knew what I was doing but you know I didn't know I was gonna get pregnant"
- 7. ACCPT: Acceptance, it is what it is, now I have to deal with it the best I can "we're taking it day by day"
- 8. PERC FAMILY: Teen's perception of the family's reaction "I knew he'd be disappointed"
- 9. PERC FRE: Teen's perception of her friend's reaction "I thought they was gone be like my mother and my daddy"
- 10. FRE RESP: Response of teen's friends to pregnancy "They was talking about being the godmother and talking about being an auntie and talking about they gone buy booties and outfits, blankets, bottles, pacifiers, going up to the hospital."
- 11. PHYS CHNG: Physical changes attributed to pregnancy "I just be sleepy a lot"
- 12. FUT PLANS: Future plans for school, work, marriage, housing "I want to get a job. I want to be independent"
- 13. FIN: Finances, does she have her needs met, meeting her needs "it's never enough money to take care of a baby"
- 14. PUB PERC: Teen's perception of the public perception of pregnant teen, what people in the grocery store think of me and my pregnant belly "I overheard like one of them in the store, they was like, she too young to be pregnant, having a baby."
- 15. SO CONC: Significant other concerns, concerns about her significant other's safety, reliability "I hope he be safe wherever he getting the money from. I don't know. So. I don't want to have this baby and he's six feet under"
- 16. BABY CONC: Concerns about the baby's wellbeing "what if she come out not alive?
- 17. JUDG OTHR: Judgment of others "And I'm looking like you don't know my story, you don't know my life, so don't just judge me on being pregnant. I mean you never, maybe somebody in your family was pregnant at a young age. It's some, every family out there, somebody been pregnant at a young age so you just can't judge me just because you're not young and pregnant. Maybe sooner or later while you're talking about me you may be in the situation."

- 18. ISO: Isolation, not going out with friends, staying home, disconnected from peers "But sometimes I feel left out "
- 19. SOC CHNG: Social change, different pattern of social interaction related to pregnancy "I really don't go to parties or have fun and dance and this and that, skate or, I don't do stuff like that. I used to."
- 20. FAM RELT: Family relationships, how the family's reaction to pregnancy impacts relationship with teen "But since I've been pregnant, she just lost our touch and that's kinda hurting because I want that close bond with my momma"
- 21. REGRET: Regret, remorse- "I feel like I made a big mistake but will go on"
- 22. PERSEVR: Perseverance, the notion that I can get through this and we will both be ok "...but will go on"
- 23. FEAR LBR: Fear of labor, pain of delivering baby "I know it's gone hurt but some people tell me that the mother dies"
- 24. BABY CNTRD: Baby centered instead of self centered, all of the focus of others has shifted to baby, feeling left out "I mean that's all really I every time I talk to someone it's mainly about a baby. Not about me."
- 25. SO RELT: Relationship with significant other "I argue with him, I start arguing with him for no reason but sometimes I be thinking I don't even know why we're arguing. But so you know, he's supporting me a lot"
- 26. SECRET: No one else can know/find out "You wasn't even supposed to have a boy-friend so I couldn't tell anybody"
- 27. PER BKG: Personal background that influences current relationships "I went to jail and I couldn't get it together, I kept failing drug tests, kept getting in trouble"
- 28. CONSEQUENCE: Consequences of actions "since I was on probation, I had to go to jail for 3 days"
- 29. RELY OTHR: Reliance on family or others for personal or financial needs "don't have our crib yet or anything but his sister is supposed to get it"
- 30. HOUS: Instability in housing, getting kicked out of the house "So when Mom was like, you need to leave, I called her. I was like, Mom's kicking me out. Can I come stay with you?"
- 31. FEAR RESP: Fear of how others will respond to the pregnancy "And I was scared to tell her take me to the doctor but I had to tell her and she took me to the doctor cause she was like you might be pregnant by you staying with that boy"
- 32. SO FAM RLT: the relationship of the significant other's family with the pregnant teen "I'm real close with his family"
- 33. SO FAM DYN: Significant other's family dynamics "His mom and his sister. His father's not in his life"
- 34. SO RSBLT: The responsibility of the significant in the pregnancy (ie., he is as guilty as she is) "But he said this was our consequences of having sex and he accepted it"
- 35. BABY PLANS: plans to have the baby cared for while she works or attends school "between his momma cause she stay at home or we gone put it in daycare"

- 36. SIB RESP: Response of the teen's sibling(s) to the pregnancy "She happy now cause of the baby and it's getting closer to the time for the baby to come"
- 37. POS CHNG: Positive change "It's made me brighter and it's making me to do choose to do right things and stay on the right path for not only me but for my child"
- 38. PHYS DIS: Physical discomfort related to pregnancy "You gone be in pains some nights, gone wake up hurting"
- 39. HLTH CONC: personal health concerns "Worrying about your health and trying to cope with it"
- 40. BABY CARE: Infant care "I know how to change diapers and feed a baby and how much you're supposed to feed it and when and stuff like that. But cause I mean I got a baby cousin too and I keep him a lot. To help me get ready for my child"
- 41. FOB RELT: Relationship with the father of the baby (when he is not her boyfriend) "We're not together. But we're friends now"
- 42. DEC: Decision about the pregnancy (ie., to keep, adopt, or abort) "talked about abortion but I don't believe in abortion at all and I don't really think I could do an adoption cause I think I would eventually want the baby so I just decided to keep him"
- 43. FAM RESP FOB: Response of the family to the father of the baby "Um well she was more concerned about the father that she doesn't particularly care about him"
- 44. SAFE: Physical safety during the pregnancy "Cause you know before then, when you wasn't pregnant, you could take off running and all that but now while you're pregnant and you're out like at parties and teen clubs you have to worry about fighting, the pushing, the shooting, the running and all that"
- 45. BDY IMG: Body image "cause I mean I don't want to look weird"
- 46. SPIR: Spirituality, reaction at church "I do intend on the baby believing in God cause I don't want anything bad to happen. But I don't go to church or anything"
- 47. FOB RESP: Response of the father of the baby (not her boyfriend/significant other) "Well he already has another, a daughter, who's about 5, so, but he can't see her so he's more excited about this"
- 48. FOB RSLT: Responsibility of the FOB in the pregnancy and doing his part to support the baby "I can't remember where he works cause he just started like a week ago"
- 49. PARENT: Concerns about parenting "you thinking that you won't be the ideal parent you know. You don't want to be a bad one and you really want to be the best one you can be. And sometimes situations can make it seem like you can't be. And that just makes it hard."
- 50. HELP: Things that would be helpful (resources, education) "I think a lot of things would be like really helpful cause it's like so much for me to take"
- 51. CONF OTHR: Conflict with others "And I told her, I said um you can't stop him from being a part of his child's life. I don't want him"
- 52. PATER: Paternity being questioned "He was just like go get me proof that you're pregnant. And that's what I did. He thinks it's somebody else's kid."
- 53. RAC TEN: Racial tension "And my family, a lot of them, don't believe in that. Like my mom and them, they're sorta, they say they're not, but they are, racist. And my child

- shouldn't have to go through that. But she does. And I feel like if they're gonna be like that then I don't want neither, none of them around my child."
- 54. PERC SELF: Perception of self "I used to be a sweet little, nice little girl. I'm always angry and I'm always hungry now. And if I don't get what I want at a certain time I want it, I throw a fit and then 20 minutes later I'm like what happened."
- 55. EMO: Emotional lability, moodiness, mood swings "Emotions and like I can look at something and it's not even nothing to cry about and I'll look at a picture and I'll just start crying. It's horrible. I cry like 3 times a day now"
- 56. RELT OTHR: Relationships with others "I started going out and fighting and just and I was fighting for no reason at all. Just people just didn't like you or what you was wearing or you know want to mug you at a party or something"
- 57. UNDERSTAND: Desire for understanding, empathy of others "It's just like there, it's a very small amount of people that understand I guess what I'm going through."

CODE	A1	A2	А3	Α4	Α5	Α6	В1	В2	C1	C2	С3	SUM	SUM A	SUM B	SUM C
PER RESP	5	6	5	2	1	3	5	4	2	1	5	39	22	9	8
SO RESP	1	4	1	2	2	0	3	0	1	2	1	17	10	3	4
FAM DYN	4	9	2	4	1	6	4	3	8	0	3	44	26	7	11
CHNG PLANS	4	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	7	5	0	2
FAM RESP	5	5	5	5	7	6	2	8	2	7	7	59	33	10	16
PER RESP	5	6	5	2	1	3	5	4	2	1	5	39	22	9	8
ACCPT	3	0	0	0	0	2	0	1	1	0	1	8	5	1	2
PERC FAM	2	1	3	2	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	10	9	1	0
PERC FRE	1	0	0	1	3	0	0	0	1	0	0	6	5	0	1
FRE RESP	1	0	0	2	4	1	1	1	0	2	2	14	8	2	4
FUT PLANS	2	3	4	3	1	3	4	4	2	2	1	29	16	8	5
PHYS CHNG	3	1	3	3	2	2	1	0	1	0	0	16	14	1	1
FIN	8	1	4	2	2	4	4	4	2	3	9	43	21	8	14
PUB PERC	5	0	0	0	2	0	0	1	0	0	1	9	7	1	1
SO CONC	2	1	0	1	0	0	0	2	1	0	0	7	4	2	1
BABY CONC	2	4	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	1	0	8	7	0	1
JUDG OTHR	3	3	1	2	3	1	0	4	3	1	1	22	13	4	5
ISO	4	1	0	0	5	4	0	0	3	1	1	19	14	0	5
SOC CHNG	1	3	2	0	4	1	2	0	2	1	4	20	11	2	7
FAM RELT	1	2	0	3	0	0	0	0	3	0	0	9	6	0	3
REGRET	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	3	2	0	1
PERSEVR	2	0	1	0	2	0	0	2	2	0	0	9	5	2	2
FEAR LBR	1	1	0	1	1	0	0	0	1	0	0	5	4	0	1
BABY CNTRD	1	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	1	6	3	0	3
SO RELT	1	5	1	0	2	0	0	0	8	0	2	19	9	0	10
SECRET	0	0	0	0	0	0	3	6	0	0	0	9	0	9	0
PER BKG	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	1	0	0	3	0	2	1
CONSEQUENCE	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	2	0	2	0
RELY OTHR	0	0	1	1	0	1	4	1	2	0	1	11	3	5	3
HOUS	0	1	0	1	0	0	3	3	0	2	2	12	2	6	4
FEAR RESP	0	1	0	0	1	0	1	4	0	0	1	8	2	5	1
SO FAM RLT	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	2	4	2	0	2
SO FAM DYN	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0
SO RSBLT	0	1	0	1	1	0	1	3	5	3	0	15	3	4	8
SIB RESP	0	1	2	1	0	0	1	0	0	1	1	7	4	1	2
BABY PLANS	0	3	0	1	0	5	1	0	1	1	0	12	9	1	2
POS CHNG	0	3	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	1	0	6	3	2	1
PHYS DIS	0	2	2	1	2	1	3	4	1	2	0	18	8	7	3
HLTH CONC	0	4	0	3	1	0	2	0	1	0	2	13	8	2	3
BABY CARE	0	1	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	4	4	0	0
FOB RELT	0	0	2	0	0	6	0	0	0	0	0	8	8	0	0
DEC	0	0	1	3	4	6	0	0	0	3	1	18	14	0	4

FAM RESP FOB	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	2	0	0
SAFE	0	0	1	0	2	2	0	0	0	0	0	5	5	0	0
BDY IMG	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0
SPIR	0	0	1	3	3	0	3	5	3	0	1	19	7	8	4
FOB RESP	0	0	3	0	0	3	0	0	0	0	0	6	6	0	0
FOB RSBLT	0	0	1	0	0	5	0	0	0	0	0	6	6	0	0
PARENT	0	0	2	0	0	2	0	0	0	0	1	5	4	0	1
HELP	0	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	2	5	2	0	3
CONF OTHR	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	1
PATER	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	2	0	0	2
RAC TEN	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	4	0	0	4	0	0	4
PERC SELF	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0
EMO	0	0	0	2	4	0	0	1	0	0	0	7	6	1	0
RELT OTHR	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0
UNDERSTAND	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	1
												684	393	125	166